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Dardpora triple disappearance 2015 is a classic case to comprehend the modus operandi of the army from getting away from the crimes. In November 2015, three civilians were lured by a personnel 160 Territorial Army (TA), based in Hari village, Kupwara, on the pretext of providing job to them. Subsequently, all the three disappeared without any trace. The incident refreshes the spectre of Machil fake encounter 2010, which triggered valley-wide protests for months during which 120 civilians were killed. The triple disappearances 2015 gained attention only after a press conference in Srinagar, arranged by CCS in December 2016, which was widely reported. The DIG Police North Kashmir Zone while corroborating the allegations made victims’ relatives, stated that one territorial army personnel Khursheed Ahmad Khatana, has confessed before the police and allegations made by their families are true. Army claimed it has ordered an enquiry into the case and promised strict action against the accused. 

CCS/APDP while preparing a petition on the case and planning for an effective campaign against enforced disappearances in the state, the office was approached by a nephew of one of the disappeared persons. The person surprised CCS/APDP requesting for not agitating the matter and even asked for keeping silence citing dangers to the lives of disappeared and their families, as they are living in remote area where only writ of army and SOG runs. It was later known that the person had come with an intent to mislead the office, as he has been appropriated by the army. The person was appointed as mait (potter head) by the army, and he was providing labourers to them and getting huge cut from their wages. It was an opportunity lost as the campaign was differed because the safety of the victims are paramount for human rights organizations. 

After some time victim families, unaware about the well-crafted army plan to deflate the issue by using one of the members of a family, approached the CCS office and sought its re-indulgence in the matter. By the time six months has elapsed and the issue has lost its sting. Nobody knows what happed to the army enquiry. Police was also lacklustre in investigating the matter despite arresting one of the main accused, who was later let off, after the accused got bail in FIR No. 100/2015 registered under section 364 and not under section 302.  Normally, in a proper investigation where the accused has confessed to his/her crime must provide leads to the police to reach to the truth. However, in this case the accused was released, and it is understood that police cannot confront the army, and therefore, it is highly unlikely that police could hold investigations professionally in human rights cases in line with the law.

The case of Dardpora is not an isolated success of the army. There are different dimensions of this case. Why army needed three civilians through a Territorial Army personnel? Whether they were forced to cross LOC for acquiring arms training and on return get killed in a fake encounter? Pertinently, fake encounters are going on due to the competition within the army units operating in Jammu and Kashmir. There are unsubstantiated reports that the poor labourers from Bihar are lured by different agencies of MI (Military Intelligence) for working in Jammu and Kashmir, and thereafter they get consumed in fake encounters and their families are getting money regularly from the deep state. It is another scam and merits investigation. Captain Kohli, a Surya Chakra Awardee, a whistle-blower in the army had lit the fake encounter of four porters of Jammu in 2004 for which he has to pay his life. Kohli revealed about the incident through an anonymous letter to the victim families. Worthwhile to mention here, the modus operindi of the Indian army in northeast has been well-documented by Kishalay Battacharjee in his book “Blood on My Hands” confessions of state encounters.  

Dardpora village, situated in north Kashmir 130 km from Srinagar - summer capital of J&K  and is merely 7 km from LOC is having huge military concentration, therefore, was badly affected by the on-going armed conflict. Dardpora is also called “Village of Widow” with over hundred widows and over 300 orphans. As per the estimation, the village has highest number of widows and half-widows who have engaged with the NGOs for self-help and rehabilitation. This poverty stricken village has disempowered victim population who finally give up and accept the command of the army, as is the ideal choice of the perpetrators. 

One can imagine the plight of the victims who live near the LOC, which stretches to 550 km, and is inaccessible to media. In these areas local administration is inoperative and the parallel administration is run by the army. One can imagine the horrendous untold stories from these areas, which have died out with the passage of time. This case from Dardpora won’t be the last or it wasn’t the first, it is a continuing process as long as the conflict continues and as long as state grants impunity to the armed forces. Since there’s no accountability, on the contrary the army has been given free hand by the present right-wing Hindutva government. The challenge is how the human rights campaign would be innovative and how these incidents are registered internationally. 


Budgam Bloodshed Leaves 3 Youth Dead
Families of the Killed Boys Challenged the Govt. Prove Their Children were Stone Pelters

The Informative Missive 	21	March 2017

On March 28, afternoon, a 4-minute video, shot by a mobile phone, goes viral showing policemen stopping an ambulance carrying dead body of a youth killed in STF firing at Budgam district. The video clearly shows that a police officer was fighting hard with the people on board in the ambulance. The video was shot from inside the ambulance. The video shows, no respect was shown to the family of the killed youth. The video further shows relatives of the dead pleading with the policemen to allow them to take the body. They have killed my nephew; another man could be heard saying in the video. Shrieks of women could be heard after police fired tear smoke shells to disperse the crowd, which has gathered near the site. As the video turns blank, a policeman could be heard trying to persuade Zahid’s relatives to allow them to take the body to police control room “so that the situation doesn’t turn ugly there (Chadoora)”."Are we doing this for ourselves?" the cop is heard telling victim's relative in the video. The woman, accompanying the body, could be heard yelling at cops and weeping bitterly after the cops didn’t allow the ambulance to move.[image: ][image: ][image: ]
           Zahid – 21 years	                        Amir 16- years  		                Ishfaq 21-years 

· “Despite resistance shown by the family, the police forcefully took the ambulance to Police Control Room (PCR) where it was kept till 7:00 in the evening. The local Budgam MLA Javaid Mustafa get it released from the PCR. The MLA accused the STF of murdering the boy with clear intent.”

· “See the spot where the bullet hit him. On his chest. It clearly manifests it was a target killing with a sole aim to kill him.” 

· “Ishfaq had bullet on the left side of chest piercing through his heart.  He had died on the spot and taking him to hospital was only to confirm his death.


That day three people were killed in Budgam district. It was later established the dead body in the ambulance was of Zahid Rasheed killed by STF personnel in Chadoora, Budgam. 
	Chadoora falls in Budgam district in central Kashmir. Budgam District borders the districts of Baramulla and Srinagar in the north, Pulwama in the south and Poonch in the south west. It consists of eight blocks. The district is subdivided into six tehsils. Chadoora is 16 km away from Srinagar district.
A researcher of The Informative Missive visited the district to meet the families of the youth killed on March 28 by the armed forces. The government claimed the killed youth were stone pelters killed while obstructing the counter-insurgency operation of the armed forces. A militant was also killed in the encounter. People have different version to rubbish the government claim, they say the killings were intentional and people were assembled from over 150 meters away from encounter site. They questioned how come the stone, from such a long distance, could reach the forces engaged in encounter with the holdup militant. The people had assembled across the river Dood Ganga on Chadoora-Pulwama road not near the encounter site at Chadoora-Srinagar rout. 
That day, the first to fell to armed forces bullets was Zahid Rasheed Gania, 21, son of Abdul Raseed Gania of Chadoora, Budgam. He was fired at 10, in the morning, while he was on his way to home. 
“An encounter started at 7:00 am in Chadoora. As the encounter was underway people gathered at Chadoora-Pulwama road. A sizeable distance from the encounter site, no stone can reach the forces if hurled. It was clear enough that my brother Zahid was killed with clear intention,” Humaira, elder sister of Zahid told to The Informative Missive. 
On March 28, as the guns started roaring people came to know about encounter in main Chadoora, they slowly gathered at Chadoora-Pulwama road. People were watching silently.  No slogan was chanted or stone was hurled. The gathering was absolutely peaceful.
“At 9:40 am I called up on Zahid’s mobile number he told me that he was heading towards the home. I insisted him to come quickly and he assured me in next half-an-hour he would be at home,” the sister said. 
While Zahid was walking with his friend towards his home an STF vehicle was seen, probably going towards encounter site, fired a bullet towards Zahid. The bullet hit him in his neck and he slipped to a nearby paddy field. After the vehicle passed-by his friend jumped into the field to retrieve injured Zahid but was not successful. It was then when some of the boys from the gathering saw a youth struggling to carry someone on his shoulder ran towards the spot. They took him on their arms to some distance till a car came and they took him to the District Hospital. 
At the district hospital they were told to take Zahid to SMHS hospital at Srinagar. “He was probably died on the spot and taking him to the hospital was only to confirm his death. The spot where the bullet was fired only indicates he was shot to kill,” Humaira said with her eyes moist.     
The SMHS administration at 12:00 confirmed his death, however, refused to hand over the body citing police instruction. This triggered chaos in the hospital and people mostly youth there protested against the hospital decision. “The youth protest helped us in getting the body. They (youth from Srinagar) wanted him to bury at martyrs graveyard at Idd Gah Srinagar but we politely refused,” Humaira stated while underlining the indifference shown by the hospital authorities. 
While the body was taken to Budgam, police from Shergari police station intercepted the ambulance at Jehangir Chowk, Srinagar about a 1 km from the SMHS hospital. The police was not allowing the ambulance to proceed which was resisted by Zahid’s family sitting in the ambulance. Their resistance was responded with force.   Zahid’s father, uncle and ambulance driver was ruthlessly beaten. Zahid’s uncle’s arm was fractured.  Zahid’s cousin managed to take footage of the police highhandedness and immediately uploaded it on the social networking site. The video drew large-scale condemnations.  
“Despite resistance shown by the family, the police forcefully took the ambulance to Police Control Room (PCR) where it was kept till 7:00 in the evening. The local Budgam MLA Javaid Mustafa get it released from the PCR. The MLA accused the STF of murdering the boy with clear intent,” Humaira said while highlighting the difficulties the family faced while taking the dead body to home for last rites. 
When the ambulance reached Chadoora police deployed in the area pelted stones on it. Thousands of people at his native village was waiting for Zahid’s arrival. A huge procession took him to his home amid sloganeering.   
	After few days of killing police called Zahid’s family to come to the police station Chadoora, however, the family chose not to go. 
Zahid was helping his father, who deals in jewelry trade. “Just before his death Zahid had decided to continue his studies and was planning to join Kashmir University,” the sister stated. 
Humaira said Zahid’s killing has left huge void in the family as he was the only son among five sisters and the major support of his parents.  
Another boy who was killed on March 28 was a 10th standard student Amir Fayaz Waza, 16, son of Fayaz Ahmad Waza of Wathoora, Budgam.  Amir was also fired with the intention to kill. He has bullet wound on his chest. His father said when Amir went out he has no idea of encounter was underway in Chadoora. 
“What do you expect a kid will do when he saw a peoples’ gathering watching something, surely he will stay there to watch with them. When he was with the gathering he was shot by the police personnel at 12:30 pm. See the spot where the bullet hit him. On his chest. It clearly manifests it was a target killing with a sole aim to kill him,” Fayaz Ahmad, Amir’s father stated.        
That day, at around 1 pm, Fayaz got a call from his neighbor telling him that Amir was injured and was shifted to the hospital. “While I was grazing cattle a neighbor informed me via phone that my son was injured in pellet firing. He lied to me that pellets had hit Amir, as he didn’t want to shock me with the real news, and was shifted to SMHS hospital,” the father stated. 
Police had directly fired upon the gathering watching the encounter.  There was no provocation whatsoever from people, but still police showered bullets on them. Many were injured.  Amir received bullet on his chest.  
When Amir’s mother learnt about his son’s injury she along with her two neighbors rushed to SMHS Hospital.  When she reached there she found her son already dead.  
After Amir was declared dead he was taken to Police Control Room by Police.  MLA Javaid Mustafa was also there.  He did not let the police to conduct Amir’s post mortem.  He helped the family to get the body home.
At Amir’s home the people from different villages in thousands had gathered.  In the meantime, few CRPF vehicles passed through the main road. When they saw people gathered on the road they fired tear smoke shells. One of the smoke shell hit Amir’s grandfather Abdul Gani on his head.  He was taken to Hospital by the locals. He had received grave injury.  
When the body was brought home it was received by thousands of people.  The boy was laid to rest among pro-freedom slogans.  
Family has not filed any case neither has received the copy of FIR.  
With his killing Fayaz believes he lost everything. “He was my only son besides two daughters. I have kept all hopes of my life on him. I am a labourer who had decided to invest whatever I earn to ensure education of my children,” the distraught father stated. 
Twenty-one-year, Ishfaq Rashid Wani, an automobile mechanic, was the third youth killed by the armed forces. He too was shot with the aim to kill him. He had a bullet hole in his chest suggests he was killed with the intention. In him, his family lost the main bread winner.   
On March 28, afternoon at around 1:15 pm Ishfaq son of Abdul Rashid Wani, a resident of Wavoosa, Rangreth, in the outskirts of Srinagar had gone to play cricket with his fried in his locality.  That day he had skipped his work.  He had informed his mother about going to play cricket with his friends. 
Ishfaq’s family had no idea that he had gone to Chadoora to watch the encounter. Chadoora is almost 8 km away from Ishfaq’s house. 
“At 3:45 pm, my phone rang, the caller was unknown, informing me that my son had a bullet injury and is lying in SMHS hospital in Srinagar.  Perturbed, I rushed to the hospital only to found my son already dead there,” Abdul Rashid Wani, Ishfaq’s father stated while talking to The Informative Missive.  
Like Zahid, Ishfaq was also on Chadoora-Pulwama road where people had assembled to watch the encounter. “His friends told us that they had gone to Chadoora after they heard an encounter was going on there. At around 3 pm when the encounter came to an end and troopers were leaving the site, the SOG personnel fired indiscriminately towards the people who were watching the encounter on the other side of the river,” Abdul Rashid said.   
In the firing, many people received bullet injuries and Ishfaq was also hit. “Ishfaq had bullet on the left side of chest piercing through his heart.  He had died on the spot and taking him to hospital was only to confirm his death. Once the doctors examined him they immediately declared him dead,” the dejected father stated as his voice gradually starts choking. 
While Ishfaq’s body was lying in SMHS hospital a Police team appeared to take the body in its possession. However, the youth who had gathered there foiled the police attempt. There were clashes between the youth and police outside the hospital.  
The father further stated, “The protestors managed to take his body to Nawa Bazar, Srinagar and offered his Namaaz-i-Jinaaza (funeral prayers) there. The police also arrived there to take away the body but the courageous protestors managed to bring the body to home”.  
As the body was brought home thousands of people had already assembled to bid adieu to the departed soul. 
Ishfaq’s family has no knowledge of whether police has filed FIR in his killing or not. 
Ishfaq was the sole earning source to his family. His father is suffering from pulmonary problem from last three years.  
Ishfaq had to leave his studies in 7th standard class as the financial condition of his family was pathetic.  
Ishfaq was one of Abdul Rashid’s four children, among them one daughter. The family relied heavily on Ishfaq’s income. Abdul Rashid worked as a mason but in the year 2014, he quit his work because of asthma. All his sons worked as labourers, except Ishfaq. “Ishfaq worked the hardest. Even during the agitation last year, he repaired cars to support his family,” Abdul Rashid said.

		Police Not Filing FIR, Knows Well Its Men Kill My Son: Father

Police declines to file FIR into the killing of, a 12th class student, Muzaffar Ahmad Pandith, 20, who died of pellet injuries fired by cops on September 15. The boy’s father Ramzan Ahmad Pandith of village Chak-i-Kawoosa, Budgam district did everything in his reach to convince police to file FIR in his son’s killing. However, months after, it appears to him that police was not going to file FIR, as its own men were involved in his son killing. 
An employee in education department, Mohammad Ramzan from last 5 ½ month tirelessly visited police officials, of different ranks, one after another to get the FIR filed but without any success. Now feeling frustrated Ramzan was pondering of legal recourse to get the FIR registered. 
Ramzan Pandith holding a file in a big polythene bag possessing his son’s medical records entered the office of JKCCS for taking up his matter. He was thankful to a local journalist, who had told him about JKCCS office, as he was struggling for the next step. 
Unlike most of the victim parents he was calm and easy while starting his conversation with The Informative Missive. 
On September 2016, there was a protest going on at main road Chak-I-Kawoosa, a distance of over 700 metres from the shop where Mehraj was standing. The shop was situated just outside a local Masjid where from Muzaffar came out after offering Magrib (pre-dusk) prayers. The protest was mild in nature and had not much effect on peoples’ mobility. Few police vehicle to corner the protesters took to a by-lane, which leads to the other side of the road i.e. behind the protesters. It was then Muzaffar was targeted with pellets from a rushing police vehicle. 
“The shopkeeper outside whose shop Muzaffar was targeted told me that he was busy talking with him when a policeman showered pellets on him. He had just come out of the nearby Masjid and was in conversation with the shopkeeper,” Ramzan quoting the shopkeeper, who witnessed police firing pellets at Muzaffar.
He further stated, “He was precisely targeted by police with pellets. His left side of face was showered with pellets some of them hitting his left eye.” 
Not only Muzaffar another boy was targeted with pellets on his body.  
Some of the local boys took Muzaffar to Magam Hospital. “When the shopkeeper saw Muzaffar down on the ground with bloody face, he ran for his safety. Then some boys courageously without caring for police retaliation took Muzaffar to the local hospital where from he was shifted to SMHS hospital at Srinagar,” Ramzan averred while sharing the details how his son was shifted to the hospital without his family being informed by the boys to whom he was highly thankful.   · Mohammad Ramzan from last 5 ½ month tirelessly visited police officials, of different ranks, one after another to get the FIR filed but without any success. Now feeling frustrated Ramzan was pondering of legal recourse to get the FIR registered.

· The shopkeeper outside whose shop Muzaffar was targeted told me that he was busy talking with him when a policeman showered pellets on him.


At SMHS hospital, Muzaffar was operated upon on the following day. “After the surgery he was discharged and was kept on strict medication. We were told to re-visit on September 27 and he was again operated.”
After two days Ramzan was told by the doctors to take him home. Before he could be shifted back to home, Muzaffar complained of severe belly and back pain.  He was shown to a doctor, who after examining Muzaffar told Ramzan that “for now you can take him home”. However, when Ramzan asked the doctor about his recovery chances, he was told that pellets had been lodged deep in his eye and the doctor was not in a position to say anything with surety.   
“We were highly disappointed over doctor’s observation. We were also ourselves not seen any visible improvement in Muzaffar’s conditions. He kept complaining of pain till he dies,” Ramzan stated and paused for a while to recount further details.  
When medicines prescribed by the hospital doctors failed to minimize his discomfort, the family took Muzaffar to a local chemist. “When he was in undying pain, we took him to a local paramedic who gave some pain killers to him. On September 30, morning, he had pimples all over his body. Worried, we took him to JVC hospital where from he was shifted to SKIMS, Soura,” Ramzan stated while explaining his health conditions after hit by pellets.   
On October 1, at 12:15 am, Muzaffar stopped breathing in front of his father, who was watching helplessly his son dying before his eyes. 
“I saw my young son silently dying before my eyes. How unfortunate I am,” the dejected father stated. 
Since 15 September to October 1, 2016 the family was busy in providing the treatment to their son. As a result of which Ramzan did get time to file FIR.
On October 16, Mohammad Ramzan visited police station Magam to check whether FIR has been registered into his son’s killing or not. He was told by the clerk that no FIR was lodged into the incident. Thereafter, Ramzan met Dy SP to get the FIR registered. “The Dy SP told me that my complaint would not be entertained until the police get hospital summary of my son’s death.  When months passed-by no summary was sent to police, Ramzan took it on himself and went to the SKIMS hospital to get the medical summary of his son.  
“Clearly pellets killed him. We had no idea why doctors delayed his medical summary to the police. We can only presume it may be the police pressure that worked on the doctors,” complained the dejected father. 
“When I reached the SKIMS hospital I was told that the summary would only be given to the police. I waited few weeks but nothing was forwarded to the police,” Ramzan stated while emphasizing that the delay was deliberate to tire him out.   
Then the father visited SSP Budgam with a representation to file FIR.  “The SSP behaved rudely and told me ‘when people hear about compensation they run to file FIRs.  He told me to leave and visit the concerned police station,” Ramzan stating while sharing the details of his meeting with the SSP Budgam.
After few days, Ramzan received a surprise call from police post Gagarpora, Budgam. The person on the phone identified himself as Munshi Nazir Ahmad who told him to visit police station Magam.
“Nazir Ahmad told me that police had received the medical summary of his son’s death and told me to bring all the documents related to Muzaffar’s case. I gave police whatever medical documents I had received from the hospital on time of my son’s death. Police told me that they had to send those documents to the SSP office for further process,” Ramzan said. 
After sometime, Ramzan again visited Dy SP’s office to know the case status.  There he was told that police had written to the hospital authorities to ascertain whether Muzaffar died due to pellets or not.  Pertinently, over dozen killings took place by pellet gun firing alone in the year 2016. Pellets have been repeatedly declared as lethal by Kashmir medical fraternity. 
After few days, Ramzan again visited police station where he was told by the Munshi that they have sent the letter to the hospital. When Ramzan asked about the date and time of the letter sent to the hospital the Munshi called up SHO on phone. “They both (Munshi and SHO) chat for a while. When I asked him what SHO has told him he refused to share anything,” Ramzan said.
  	As the months passed by there was no FIR registered Ramzan has mulling to move to the court. “Now I am going to write to the SSP, as a last-ditch attempt for filing FIR, if he fails to do so, I have left with no option but to file a case in the court,” the resolute father stated. 
For readers interest the medical summary of Mazaffar is being incorporated here:
Medical Summary As notified in the OPD ticket issued by the SDH Magam dt. 15 – Sep- 2016 the deceased was admitted with pellet injury in left eye and was immediately vaccinated.  On 16 – Sept- 2016 the deceased was shifted to SMHS and his L/E was immediately operated. As per the discharged certificated dt. 17-09-2016 Muzaffar Ahmad Pandith’s had L/E pellet injury, described by doctors as (perforating injury). The issues of corneal tear have also been mentioned alongside.  The CT investigations as per the DC revealed Retrobulbar pellet (behind eye ball). However, the deceased’s medical history as pointed out in the DC suggests that he was had LR Palsy since 2010 after he met an accident.  On 27-09-2016 the deceased was again taken to SHMS hospital for check-up and got admitted and was operated upon second time before being discharged on 29-09-2016. As mentioned in the DC dtd. 29-09-2016 the deceased had developed vitreous hemorrhage (the extravasation, or leakage, of blood into the areas in and around the vitreous humor of the eye) and traumatic cataract (opacity of the lens of the eye or its capsule or both). As stated in the DC the deceased was admitted for Vitrectomy (Surgery to remove some or all of the vitreous humor from the eye).  Following the DC the deceased was shifted to home. However after complaining of severe pain he was again rushed to hospital and was admitted to SKIMS Medical Collage and Hospital (JVC) on 16 Sep 2016 at 05: 21 am.  On 01 – Oct- 2016 the deceased was referred to SKIMS (Soura) and was provided with an ambulance by the hospital. At about 03:17 am he was admitted to SKIMS (Soura) as mentioned in the Patient Registration Card provided by the hospital authorities. At 12:15 pm on same day Muzaffar Ahmad was declared dead at SKIMS (Soura). Death Summary As per the Death Summery issued by the SKIMS (Soura) bearing M.R.D No: 939069 20 year old male with recent history of pellet injury to Left Eye  was operated at SMHS, presented to SKIMS –MCH with rashes all over the body and hematochezia with differential fever.  The clinical examination besides the technical details maintains that the patient was in respiratory distress and had Petechiae (small 1–2 mm red or purple spot on the skin, caused by a minor bleed from broken capillary blood vessels).  During medical investigation Ophthalmologist examinations revealed Swollen L/EYE. Vision in R/E was normal and L/E only perception of light was present. The death summary further states; systematic examination revealed tachycardia (an abnormally rapid heart rate), with discluded abdomen and absent bowel sounds.  The deceased was immediately started on vasopressor support; O2 Inhabitation was given along with broad spectrum antibiotics. The death summary further states that the surgical ICU call was made but due to non-availability of bed the patient could not be shifted immediately to SICU. And after various efforts was finally declared dead at 12: 15 pm.   Precisely, the death summary under the sub head cause of death maintains “cardiomyopathy arrest secondary to sepsis with septic shock. (Source: Chest and eye). 

Man Tortured by STF, Killed by Unknown Gunmen

On July 29, 2016, precisely after 1 ½ hour after his abduction, body of Fayaz Ahmad Rather son of Haji Mohammad Ramzan of Saidpora, Rafiabad, Baramulla was found.  He had a bullet hole right in the brain area of his skull. The family seems clueless about the perpetrators; however, sometime back he was arrested and tortured by SOG from Sopore camp. According to his family, Fayaz was on STF radar for quite some time and was frequently harassed by it. Police claimed involvement of three persons including one foreign militant in Fayaz’s killing. Two of them were in police custody.  
On March 3, 2017, a researcher of The Informative Missive visited Fayaz Ahmad’s in-laws house, where he used to live, to compile the information on his killing. The family was still in shock and was keenly waiting about the outcome of the police investigation. 
“We are keenly waiting to see who killed him and why, and what they have achieved by his killing?” asked Fayaz’s wife Famida Begum before sharing the details of circumstances in which he was taken away and killed.
On July 29, at around 7:30 pm, there was a knock on the main gate of the house. Fayaz’s daughter went to inform her father about the knock. A protest procession had just passed-by. Kashmir was on boil after Burhan’s killing. On opening the gate there were few persons standing, all dressed in plain clothes, asking Fayaz to join them. None of the persons was seen armed. His wife was watching all this from the balcony. She saw her husband insisting them to come in for a cup tea while holding hand of one of them. However, they refused to come in. It appears to her that they may know each other well. 
“As it was dark I couldn’t identify who they were. But one thing was sure they known each other,” stated Fayaz’s wife while talking about the persons who took Fayaz away.  
The trio took Fayaz along. Famida rushed towards the gate to catch her husband. Before she could reach to the main gate they all have disappeared in a jiffy along with her husband. 
“When I saw my husband vanished with them (unknown persons) I raised an alarm. Some of our neighbours got assembled. They split in two groups and went into two different directions. Some went into the center of the village and the other went to the outskirts of the village where the orchards are located,” Famida stated.
The wife and son went to the orchards and they were calling out his name and Famida remembers that while she could not hear much, her son told her to be silent because he could hear that there was someone moaning very low so both stopped shouting. Suddenly, they heard three gunshots in the vicinity.
Because of the gunshots the search parties (villagers) then went in the same direction to the orchards and found the body just few meters from the village and covered with some twigs and dirt. He had three bullets in his body and he was already dead. Hoping against hope the villagers took Fayaz’s to district hospital Baramulla only to be declared dead there. The hospital records read “bullet has pierced through his brain.” 
Famida said as the news of her husband’s killing spread in the area, some of the villagers came forwards with different versions. A man from the same village was driving a tractor said that around the same time, along the road that leads to the village, police men were telling him to move fast and go back to home. Some say they saw three persons moving suspicious but could not identify them as it was dark.
Police station Sopore filed FIR No. 283/2016 u/s 452, 302 RPC, 7/27 A Act into the killing. Police claimed during its investigation involvement of a foreign militant Khalid @ Junaid @ Qasim and two locals Ikhlas Ahmad Lone s/o Mohammad Rajab Lone and Sajad Ahmad Lone son of Abdul Rashid Lone residents of Nadihal, Baramulla. Police claimed Ikhlas and Sajad were arrested. The police report further state that Fayaz was not involved in any subversive or criminal activity.    
“We were already apprehensive of his safety. He was harassed by SOG Dy SP Farooq who repeatedly used to call him on his mobile phone. The SOG was after him. He was arrested and tortured by them asking him to provide details about the militants about whom he knows nothing”, Famida stated while explaining the fears the family has about his welfare. 	
On June 02, in the holy month of Ramadan, in the dead of night around 2:00 a.m. a contingent of Special Task Force (STF) laid a siege and search houses in Saidpora village of Rafiabad in Baramulla district. The STF also forced their entry into the house of Fayaz Ahmad. The villagers were told that STF were looking for some militants. Along with Fayaz five other villagers including Mohammad Akbar, Fayaz’s neighbor, were arrested.  One STF officer told Fayaz’s wife that they had to arrest Fayaz as he was a militant supporter. He helps militants with food and shelter. 
In the Sopore STF camp Fayaz was tortured for a night. “On June 3, 2016, he was released by the STF in the morning. His body had torture marks all over. He was tortured to provide the information about the militants,” Famida said while rejecting all the allegations leveled against her husband who was, according to her, not even remotely connected with militancy. 
Before being taken to STF camp Sopore Fayaz was ruthlessly beaten outside his house in front of his family members for about an hour. 
	The torture had taken serious toll on Fayaz’s physical and mental health.  “He only told me that he was tortured by STF. The torture had caused his memory loss. At times he finds even difficult to recall our names. He was badly terrified. I used to sand massage his torture wounds which gave him some relief from pain,” the depressed, now widow, Famida stated. 
SOG Dy SP namely Farooq used to call him on his mobile number every time asking him to provide details about the militants. After Burhan Wani’s killing, he had a calm period as the government has suspended the mobile phone services across Kashmir.  When the phone service was restored for few days in July, the Dy SP again called him asking him to report to the Sopore camp on July 29.  However, he requested to the officer that he would be unable to come on July 29, as it was Friday. On the same day evening he was abducted and killed by unknown gunmen.  
Fayaz is survived by two minor children, eight-year son and thirteen-year-old daughter and wife. Fayaz, a post-graduate pass out, was running a book shop. The family is now without an earning member.  Family has filed an application for ex graia relief in Deputy Commissioner’s office which is under process.  

Tahir Sofi Killing
Two of Tahir’s Friends Framed as OWG

Two of Tahir Sofi’s friends were arrested by the police charging them as Over Ground Workers (OGW) of militant outfit Jaish-e-Mohammad.  The boys were arrested in December last year by police and kept them in JIC Baramulla under illegal detention. However, the police announced their arrest on March 2. The police also claimed recovery of two pistols from their possession. The police claim was rubbished by Tahir’s family and the villagers as the duo were framed for supporting Tahir’s family in its case against the army accused in Tahir’s killing. The families of the arrested boys when contacted by The Informative Missive refused to share any details.
On March 5, 2013, a young student Tahir Ahmad Sofi son of Ghulam Rasool of Ganai Hammam in Baramulla was killed by the army at Khanpora bridge. Police had registered a case against Army under FIR number 81/2013 under section 302 of Ranbir Penal Code. Police has recovered two empty cartridges of AK 47 from the spot where from the soldiers opened fire.
 	After Tahir’s killing his family and witnesses were pressurised by police not to pursue the case. However, the family and the witnesses remained adamant and are braving the police intimidations since then. 
Pertinently in the backdrop of Tahir’s killing the former J&K Chief Minister stated: “But tell me how many times I will seek forgiveness and promise the families of the dead that I will get justice to them.” The then government has ordered a magisterial probe, however, the report of the probe was denied to the family even after filing of RTI application, under which the government was bound to share the information.   
A researcher of The Informative Missive on Tahir’s fourth death anniversary visited his family to ascertain the status of the case. Tahir’s family was disturbed by the arrest of his friends. 
 “Police tried every dirty trick to prevent us from pursuing the case. They keep harassing us and the witnesses in the case”, Sajad Ahmad, Tahir brother told this researcher. 
The police had arrested two of his friends {eyewitnesses to Tahir’s killing} last year in December and kept them in illegal custody for three months, now announced their arrest. They were branded as OGWs of militants and a false claim of arms recovery was also made.
When a researcher contacted the families of the arrested youth residing in Old Town Baramulla they refused to share any details about the arrests and the claim made by the police. “Right now we don’t want to talk to anybody about the arrests,” the families said and drop the phone.  
Sajad further stated, “Sajad Ahmad Khan and Shabir Ahmad Bhat were close friends of Tahir. In-front of them Tahir fell to army bullets. They were instrumental in organizing the yearly commemoration of their friend. We believe there was a strong connection between their arrest and the role they played in helping us in Tahir’s case. They were facing continuous harassments at the hands of the police.  Booking them in militancy case was intended to send a message across.”   
	Every year when Tahir’s death anniversary was round the corner police stepped up its harassment against the family and the witnesses. “It (police intimidations) was a norm for us. Every year we were being summoned by the police to Baramulla police station. The police intimidate us not to organize the death anniversary of Tahir. Tahir, now, not only belongs to us, he belongs to the entire village. It’s not only we who want commemoration on his death anniversary; it were the villagers who do arrange things for it,” Sajad stated while explaining the problems faced by the family as the March 5 approaches every year.
The family said, police wants them to bury the case and forget their son. “They (police) want us to forget what soldiers had done to us. When the police failed to break our resolve through intimidations it came up with forged FIRs.” Sajad stated. 
In September, last year, when Sajad was at his in-laws house at Boniyar, he was summoned by the Boniyar police station. “I was detained in Boniyar police station for two days. Then I was shifted to Barmulla police station and FIR was scripted against me to project me as a stone pelter. When I asked for the proof they have nothing to prove against me. It was an opportune time for the police to manufacture FIRs against me, as they were randomly arresting boys for protesting in the backdrop of 2016 Kashmir agitation,” Sajad stated.
When Sajad got the bail in the FIR, police came up with another past dated FIR of 2013 about which Sajad has no idea. Sajad had to remain in the police custody for 22 days till he obtained bail in the other FIR.    
Not only Tahir’s family faces harassments but all those who were associated with the family. People were afraid of making conspicuous and open relations with the family. “Police not only harass us but all those who walk with us or even greet us. This was the worst harassment anybody has ever gone through. Now, we refrain from openly meeting and greeting people for their safety,” Sajad stated while relating the levels of harassments the family was going through since 2013.
Police did everything to frustrate us. In our area people stopped buying black Alto cars or those who have the same car stopped plying it to avoid police harassment.  Actually, Tahir owns a black Alto car, and whosoever in the area drive black Alto car has to face police harassment and humiliation. This shows how desperate the police was to mount pressure on the family to stop it from pursuing the case against the army.  
“We need to do something to pressure the government to take action against the perpetrators who had killed my brother. There has been a lot of support from the local people in our campaign. The government wants us to be silent and not to raise our voice again and again against the injustice done to us,” Tahir’s brother Sajad Ahmad said while sharing the details of his family’s fight against the injustice.
Tahir’s family says that the District Administration offered ex-gratia relief of Rs. 5 lakhs (half a million rupees) but they didn’t accept it. They were told by the administration to take the money and leave the case.
	Sajad further stated, “Money can’t be substitute to justice. Whether we get justice or not, we don’t know. One thing we know was to keep the fight going on.” 
The family has filed an RTI application sought the probe outcome of the case and the family gets only one-line info “the government cannot provide information due to security reasons”.
	Sajad said the case will go on but they are worried about the safety of his friends who were implicated in frivolous case.

Kaneeza’s family, locals reject stray bullet theory

March 17: In this small hamlet in north Kashmir’s Kupwara district, two brothers Aslam Chechi (15) and Zaffar Chechi (10) were attending to mourners who were thronging their residence to condole the death of their eight-year-old sister Kaneeza. The young girl, according to police, was killed “by a stray bullet” during a gunfight there on March 15 a claim that locals are not ready buy. Her brother Faisal was also injured in the incident.
The mother of Aslam and Zaffar is in Srinagar, attending to her injured son while Khushi Muhammad, her husband, who is a labourer by profession, was “called” by Member of Legislative Assembly and Rural Development Minister Abdul Haq Khan on Thursday morning and had not returned home till late afternoon.
Aslam and Zaffar are students of Class 9th and Class 6th at High School Batpora, located barely few yards away from their house. Kaneeza also studied in the same school.
“She was very gentle,” said her two teachers who had come to visit the bereaved family.
Residents here said a column of J&K Police arrived in the village at 5 p.m. on Tuesday. Minutes later, they said, many more columns of army soldiers arrived and the village was cordoned off.
“The soldiers and police took position in our houses, even on rooftops,” the villagers told Greater Kashmir. “They did not allow us to move out after the cordon was laid.”
At around at 5 a.m. on March 15, the residents said, the exchange of fire started between the militants and the forces. The house, where the militants were trapped, is located on the foothills of Kunnard forests and the house where Kaneeza fell to bullets is 100 meters away from it.
The soldiers, according to locals, had also taken shelter under a ladder in the house of Khushi Muhammad. 
“Despite the fact that the cordon was laid at 5 p.m. on Tuesday, there was no announcement about what was going on,” they said.
Kaneeza and her brothers were sleeping in their kitchen—the only room in their wooden house whose first floor is meant for cattle while the second has a dilapidated kitchen and an attached bathroom.
At around 10 a.m, Faisal started crying as bullet hit him in thigh and back.  “He was crying for help,” Aslam told media. “My mother tried to shift him out the house but she wasn’t allowed to venture out.”
He said at around 11.30 am, his mother mustered courage and took Faisal on her shoulder to a nearby road where vehicles of Army and SOG were parked. Later he, according to the villagers, was shifted in a police vehicle to a hospital.
“When our brother was injured, nobody came to see us. We were crying as heavy firing was going on,” said Zaffer, adding: “We crawled in bed and kept crying. Even my father tried to accompany Faisal, but he was stopped.”
Aslam said at around 3 pm, the encounter ended and police and Army left the spot. “I tried to tell Kaneeza that the encounter is over, but was shocked to see only blood on her mattress. She had died,” he said. “We told Police and Army about it and they asked us to bury her within no time.”
In the evening, Aslam said, the Senior Superintendent of Police visited the family and provided five kilograms sugar, 25-kg rice, 5-kg mustard oil and five blankets. “They asked us to keep all the food and assured they will solve the killing (case) amicably,” he said.
The residents said there was no alternative but to bury her. “To come out for protests in this place is very, very dangerous. Here we have to go by orders,” they said.
The villagers now ask several questions especially with regard to evacuation of civilians around the encounter site. “For 12 hours, there was no gunfight. They could have evacuated inmates of the house that was located 100 meters away from the encounter site,” they said, adding: “We are unable to understand this stray bullet theory. We will never buy this version. No civilian would have been harmed if police had taken precautions.”
‘ENCOUNTER AFTER 24 YEARS’
The March 15 encounter in the area has taken place after 24 years, according to locals. “The last encounter that took place in Kunnard was in 1993. Strategically, the area is located near the Line of Control and is not a preferred infiltration route,” they said.
As the people were thronging to condole the death of Kaneeza, groups of people were shouting slogans outside the house and denouncing the killing. They were also demanding a probe into the killing.
SSP Kupwara, Shamsher Hussian claimed the family did not agree to vacate the house. “They told us they won’t vacate as it is dark outside,” he claimed. “We provided assistance to the family including food items. We have registered a case wherein her (Kaneeza’s) death has been shown to have taken place with a stray bullet.”
The District Magistrate Kupwara, G.M Dar, however said police reported to him that the family was not evacuated as there was heavy exchange of fire going on. “That is what police told me,” Dar told media.

Kupwara Disappearances
Man Who Walks Shoulder to Shoulder Turns Out to be Army Informer

Khursheed Ahmad was instrumental in hurting the struggle of the families of three Kupwara disappeared persons who went missing on November 17-2015. Due to Khursheed’s deception the case lose the human rights groups and media attention, as the families chose not to agitate the matter publicly. The case was one of the high-profile cases in the recent Kashmir human rights history. Three persons Ali Mohammad Sheikh of Trehgam, Mir Hussain Khatana and Gulam Jeelani Khatana of Dardpora disappeared after being lured by a Territorial Army personnel Manzoor Ahmad Khawja on the pretext of providing jobs to them. 
[image: ]After the disappearances, as the families started agitating the matter blaming the army for disappearing the three civilians; it mounts some pressure on the army and police. The disappearances were widely covered by the media for weeks. A press conference was also held where families of the disappeared men talked to the media. 
On December 14, 2015, DIG Police North Kashmir Range Gareeb Das said the accused Manzoor Khawja has confessed before the police that he had met the disappeared trio. Das said the allegations leveled by the family members that the missing persons had gone with the accused Manzoor are true as the accused has confirmed this. On December 16, the army ordered a probe into the disappearance. The, GOC 15 Corps LT Gen Satish Kumar Dua told media that the army has ordered an inquiry into the case of three missing men and the guilty would be ‘punished strictly’.
Begum Jan, a middle-aged woman, approached The Informative Missive for updating the case information. She was assisted by Gulam Jeelani Khatana’s son-in-law Javaid Gorsi.  Both share startling details how the army engaged its informers to prevent the families from prsuing the case. Not only families were given money they were frequently intimidated by the army directly and indirectly to withdraw the case from the court.   
Begum Jan believes that the case would have been reached at some substantial level if Khursheed would not have been subverted their fight. It took families a while to understand the role of Khursheed in the case. Now he stands exposed.  
Khursheed, nephew of Begum Jan, whose brother Ghulam Jeelani was one among the disappeared men, was on a mission to stop the families from perusing the case. He has established good relation with the army after the trio disappeared. So far he had succeeded in appropriating Ali Mohammad’s family while the families of Ghulam Jeelani and Mir Hussain Khatana are resolved to fight the case. 
Despite all the odds and impediments created by the army and its extensions, the two families are seriously following the case. As the police was not filing charge sheet in the Kupwara Court, the families felt compelled to move to the High Court. A petition no. OWP 1559/2016 was filed in the High Court. The High Court on December 12, 2016 issued notice to the Army and the State government. The notice issued to the army unnerved the it, as the case started shaping up a high-profile one. 
Khursheed was very much present with the families in the beginning of the campaign. He also took part in a press conference in December 2015 and was the main man engaged with the lawyer in Kupwara court where a petition was filed by the families of the disappeared men.  
	Last year, in March 2016, Khursheed visited JKCCS office and misinformed it that the families has requested him not to highlight the case anymore, as they don’t want to harm the disappeared by repeatedly sharing details with the media. Begum Jan when told about Khursheed last year’s visit, she was shocked on hearing it. She said, he was given a mission by the army to create as much hurdles he can to prevent the families from pushing the case in the court or share details to media.   
Begum Jan said, Khursheed once a porter had made fortunes for himself after helping the army in the case. He was appointed as Mait (porters head) by the army. He was earning like anything. Army pays around Rs. 10,000/- per labour and under him over 40 labourers operate. In winter the amount paid to a labour goes up to Rs. 15 to 18,000 per month. He was earning handsome commission over every porter. 
Another person who helps the army in the case was Siraj Din Khatana a cousin of Mir Hussain. Siraj did everything to appropriate Mir Hussan’s family but failed to make any impact. Mir’s family had joined hands with Ghulam Jeelani’s family to fight the case in the court. However, the family of Ali Mohammad Sheikh showed no interest in the case. The family had been appropriated by the army through its extensions.  
Khursheed has given five cheques of Rs. 20,000 to Ghulam Jeelan’s family to disengage it from the case. The first cheque was given in February 2016 and the rest four on the following months.  
Begum Jan had gone to Pakistan in January 2016 to look for his brother. When she returned from there Khursheed threatened him not to follow the case.  Begum Jan rebuked him, and it was then the army ration supply to Ghulam Jeelani’s family was stopped by it. Pertinently, Ghulam Jeelani has seven daughters two of whom have vision impairment. 
In September 2016, army’s Commanding Officer (CO) summoned Begam Jan (wife of Ghulam Jeelani) to the camp. Pertinently, wife and sister of Ghulam Jeelani share the common name.  The officer told her that the army knows it were Jeelani’s sister who took interest in the case not her. The CO told Jeelani’s wife that “army believes in resolving the issues by bullets not by persuasions”. The CO further told her to withdraw the case for the betterment. The CO also told her to absolve the army in the court if she has been asked to depose. 
Ishfaq Ahmad Kahatan,17, Jeelani’s son, a 9th class dropout after his father’s disappearance, was repeatedly receiving threats from a phone number 7051 735 534. He was asked to come to a water reservoir at Thandipora, Dardpora. An application was filed with police station Kralpora. The SHO told Begum Jan and Ishfaq to meet the Munshi (clerk) who told him “relax now you will not receive the threats”. 
	When Ishfaq told the Munshi to check the number he was told “go to Chandighar to check the number”. However, the SHO assured him that in couple of days he will let him know about the person who calls him.  
Javaid Ahmad Gorsi, son in Law of Ghulam Jeelani once in October 2016 went to the Brigade Camp situated at Farkintop Kupwara along with his mother-in-law. The A.Q. Commander told them in 15 days army will inform the family about the whereabouts of the disappeared persons.  A.Q. has given a contact number to Javaid asking him to call after 15 days. When Javaid called on the given number he was told that the A.Q. was on leave. 
When Khursheed knows about the visit he warned Javaid to stay away from the case or face consequences.  
Khursheed has kept a close watch on the families and reported their every move to the army. Two of the families have decided not to remain silent, as silence only favours the perpetrators. 
As the army has ordered the enquiry and promised action but the families were never called to testify before army inquiry.  Neither police took the statements of the families. 

Ignoring Physically Disability, Youth Booked Under PSA 

For J&K police even polio patients can pose threat to the law and order by pelting stones on the forces. No matter whether he walks with the help of crutches or on a wheelchair, he can be averse to peace. There was a case from Baramulla’s old town Fakirwean where police had arrested a polio patient on charges of stone pelting and booked him under Public Safety Act (PSA).
On October 21, 2016, twenty-seven-year old, Tanveer Ahmad War son of Mohammad Shaban War of Fakirwean, Old Town Baramulla was arrested from his house by police during a crackdown. He was booked for his role in the public uprising last year.  The youth has been lodged in Kupwara jail in north Kashmir. 
The Informative Missive talked to Tanveer’s family about his arrest under PSA and what follows after that. Tanveer’s mother was present at home on time of this researcher’s visit; she was sitting in a corner of a room praying for his physically challenged son’s release. “They arrested him in front of our eyes. He was dragged since he can’t walk without crutches,” these were the words of Tanveer’s mother when she started talking to The Informative Missive.
“How can a physically challenged person hurl stones on police? He may be close to the protest spots or may be raised slogans or had taken part in protests does that mean they will book him under PSA. No heed has been paid to his physical disability,” claimed Tanveer’s mother. 
	While police has made a strong case against Tanveer and invoked PSA against him. The FIR No. 203/2016, 151/2016, 253/2016, 300/2016, 314/2016, 317/ 2016, 320/2010, 324/2016 and 332/2016  were filed against him on October 24. 
Tanveer’s family was worried about how did he manages inside the jail. “He needs a lot of care. He is not a normal person,” Tanveer’s aged mother said with her eyes moist. 
The impoverished family is fighting a tough battle to pursue the legal process for his release.
On every hearing, Ishrat and her 70-year-old ailing father Mohammad Abdullah ensure their presence during the hearing of the case. “We reach the court premises at 8 am on the scheduled date. Every time we arrive with the hope that Tanveer would be allowed to walk free,” Ishrat stated.
However for the last three months the father-daughter duo has been returning home disappointed. “Tanveer has developed eye infection inside the jail. Only God knows how he is managing,” Ishrat said while narrating her woeful tale.
“His place is at home not in the jail, I hope he is released soon,” Abdullah said. After her husband’s arrest, she is completely dependent on her father as Tanveer’s family skirted the responsibility.
“It was because of my father that I am fighting a legal battle for my husband’s release. Despite having a meager income, he is trying to help me out,” she said adding that due to heightened stress levels she has developed heart ailments besides fighting chronic diabetes.
She said that life was becoming more and more difficult for her with each passing day. She said that the family was planning to raise a bank loan to purchase a shop for eking out livelihood. “The plans were dashed to ground with Tanveer’s arrest,” she said.

Unidentified Gunmen Kill Kralgund Man

March 11: The bullet-riddled body of a 28-year-old man was recovered from Naghama Kralgund area of north Kashmir’s Kupwara district on March 11 (Saturday morning), leading to protests in the area. A group of locals spotted the body of Shahnawaz Khan of Naghama in a field and later informed the police.
“As per preliminary investigation, he (Khan) had been shot at from a very close range from a pistol. He was missing from his home since yesterday evening,” said Superintendent of Police, Handwara, Ghulam Jeelani. According to police, Khan had bullet marks on his forehead near left eye.
The killing triggered protests in Naghama and its adjoining villages. The locals staged a protest on Kralgund road and demanded immediate arrest of culprits involved in the killing.
A local told media that Khan was booked under PSA during the 2010 uprising in Kashmir. “But after his release, he had taken cooking in marriage ceremonies as his profession to earn his livelihood to sustain his family,” he said.
Police have registered a case and started investigation.
A case FIR number 10 under section 302 RPC, 7/27 IA Act was registered and investigation was taken up.

Kunan Poshpora Mass Rape and Torture Developments
· 
· Hold the state accountable before talking about Kunan victim rehab: Support group tells Nayeema Mahjoor 
March 06: The Support Group For Justice For Kunan Poshpora has asked the chairperson of the State Commission for Women (SCW) Nayeema Mahjoor to hold the state accountable for the Kunan Poshpora rapes before talking about the victim rehabilitation.
		A statement issued by the support group pointed towards Mahjoor’s remark at a book launch where she expressed about being ‘hopeful’ about rehabilitating the victims of Kunan Poshpora and Dardpora widows by the ruling PDP government.
“What is the point in legally denying the rapes and then acknowledging them by talking about rehabilitation of the victims? Also the first step in the case should be the withdrawal of the case from the SC as a gesture of acknowledging the crime that the people of Kunan Poshpora have been fighting against for the last 26 years. Rehabilitation will come later,” the group said in the statement.
		The group added that the case has been used by the governments to further their own political agendas while the High Court order of monitoring reinvestigation of the case and payment of compensation to the victims was challenged in the Supreme Court of India by the State and Union of India.
		Stating that the SCW was an autonomous body that should work for providing assistance to the victims, “whether the perpetrator is a civilian, or the State itself,” the group said the SCW has ‘failed’ to do so in case of Kunan Poshpora, and “the present Chairperson cannot speak on behalf of the government which in this case is the perpetrator”.
		The support group also pointed out that the present CM Mehbooba Mufti met with the villagers of Kunan Poshpora in late September and it was directly conveyed to her that the first thing the government could do if at all it was earnest in its offer for help would be to stop creating legal hurdles for the victims and withdraw the case from the SC.
		“It hasn’t happened even when the CM assured all help to the victims, how then will the rehabilitation happen,” the group said.
		“The villagers have maintained that for them to see their perpetrators punished is of prime importance, they have resisted and fought a long drawn legal battle to ensure that those who committed the crime do not rest easy,” the spokesperson added.
		The state on the other hand has been involved in cover ups and shaming of the victims, the support group alleged, often offering them money and intimidating them to withdraw from the case.
		“We know that the state uses rehabilitation just as another gimmick to feign sympathy with the victims even as it continues to challenge the victims and their truth in the court of law,” it said.
·  Kunan Poshpora Support Group Moves SHRC
March 10: The Support Group for Justice for Kunan Poshpora approached the State Human Rights Commission on Friday, to challenge the denial of permission for an event on 23rdFebruary, commemorating the ‘Kashmiri Women’s Resistance Day’.
		The group pleaded that there is no provision under law where the permission is needed from the District Magistrate for holding seminars and press Conference regarding public interest issue.
		“It is the arbitrary exercise of the police to prevent such meetings without giving any explanation or reason.”
		The SHRC has ordered the state to respond with its report on 1st May, citing reasons for not allowing the event of 23rd February, the support group said in a statement.
		February 23  marks the anniversary of the Kunan Poshpora mass rape and torture case of 1991 and post 2013 the support group has organized events including debates and discussions and peaceful means of protest against the delay in justice to the survivors.
 		Last year the venue had to be changed at the last moment as permission was not given by the police for the book launch of ‘Do you remember Kunan Poshpora?’, and this year the event was banned by the SSP vide order no: PCS/45-17/8356-57, citing law and order problems that could arise as a result of discussing Kunan Poshpora.
 		“By denying permission for such events the State has made it clear that the victims will not be allowed the right to speech and that apart from shielding the perpetrators it will make every attempt to silence both the victims and those who stand in their support,” the support group said.

Army man booked for molesting, blackmailing girl in J-K

March 3: An Army man was booked by the Crime Branch of Jammu and Kashmir Police for allegedly blackmailing a girl after outraging her modesty in Ramban district of the State.

Gulab Singh Parihar, posted in Kupwara district, allegedly outraged the modesty of the girl and obtained her photographs.
He then prepared an offensive video and started sending threatening text messages to her through different mobile phones, a senior officer of J&K Crime Branch told media.
Parihar allegedly demanded her photographs along with money amounting to ₹5 lakh, failing which he threatened to upload her nude pictures online. He also allegedly demanded from her photographs and videos of other girls from Ramban area for blackmailing them as well, the officer said.
After receiving a complaint from the victim, a preliminary inquiry was initiated and it was revealed through mobile phone locations that Parihar, with the connivance of other suspects, had sent vulgar and offensive text messages by impersonating a blackmailer, the officer said.
A formal case was registered under relevant sections of the IPC and have investigations started into the case.

JKCCS Documentation Shows Escalation of State Violence

[image: http://kashmirreader.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/State-violence-on-civilian-population.jpg]The government’s response towards people’s protest in Jammu and Kashmir has only become more violent during the past year. In the first three months of this year, at least 14 civilians have been shot dead in firing by government forces and 2 civilians were killed by suspected militants. Comparing it with 2016, only 7 civilians were killed in government forces action during the months between January to March. Out of the 14 civilians killed in first three months of this year, 8 have died due to firing by government forces near the encounter sites – which is slowly becoming a new norm of state violence in Jammu and Kashmir, where government forces fire upon civilian protestors near encounter sites.
The government’s claim that militancy is on the rise in the state of Jammu and Kashmir doesn’t hold truth as comparing to the previous year’s death toll of militants in the first three months of the year was 28 and this year there has only been a slight increase as the number of militants killed from January to March 2017 is 33. What has changed however is the number of local militants killed in government forces action in Jammu and Kashmir: in the first three months of 2016 nine local militants were killed in government and Indian armed forces action while in this year a total of 18 local militants have been killed in action by government and Indian armed forces action. The trend points to the increasing inclusion of local boys into the armed insurgency in Jammu and Kashmir.
In the first three months of 2017, a total of 33 militants have been killed in government forces action which include 18 locals, 7 non-locals, and 8 unknown militants. However in the first three months of 2016, a total of 28 militants have been killed in government forces action which include 9 locals, 16 non-locals and 3 unknown militants.
Thirteen armed forces have also been killed in the first three months of the year 2017 compared to last year’s toll of 10 armed forces killed in the first three months of the year 2016.
The data points to the growing rise of state violence on civilian population in Kashmir, most worryingly of shooting protestors at encounter sites in which 8 civilians have lost their lives in the first three months of this year alone.

JKCCS Press Releases
· 
· SSP Ganderbal directed to constitute SIT in 1999 killing case by Ikhwan
March 21: 18 years after Ghulam Mohammad Lone was killed by members of the Ikhwan, led by Nazir Ahmad Lone alias Nazir Gurra, proper investigation of FIR no. 33/1999 at Kangan Police Station has been directed. By order dated 14 March 2017, the court of Sub-Judge, Chief Judicial Magistrate, Ganderbal, directed SSP Ganderbal to constitute a special investigation team, carry out proper investigations and submit reports before the court. The case is next listed before the same court on 30 March 2017.
On 23 June 1999, Ghulam Mohammad Lone, a ranger in the Forest Department, was killed by Nazir Gurra and other Ikhwan for protesting the illegal cutting of trees in the area by the Ikhwan. While an FIR was filed, the police did not carry out investigations. After various efforts before the local administration and police, Abdul Qayoom Lone, the son of the victim, filed a writ petition before the Jammu and Kashmir High Court in 2015. Before the High Court, SHO, Kangan Police Station, submitted a status report that the case had been closed as untraced on 29 September 1999 and submitted before the competent court on 20 March 2001. Based on this report, the High Court, on 2 May 2016, disposed off the petition and directed Abdul Qayoom Lone to approach the lower court for relief. But, as noted in the recent order of 14 March 2017, in reality no closure report was ever filed before the lower court and the SHO, Kangan Police Station misinformed the High Court.
This case illustrates the various levels of obfuscations of the State to ensure impunity for State forces and their functionaries, such as the Ikhwan, accused of human rights violations in Jammu and Kashmir. The recent order of 14 March 2017 serves as another marker in the struggle for justice in this case. 
· Rashid Billa Threatens Family Members of Saderkoot Massacre
March 14: Family members of the seven victims of the Saderkoot massacre of 5 October 1996 have been threatened by Abdul Rashid Parray (Rashid Billa), who along with other ex-Ikhwan (government gunmen) have been found by the police to have carried out the massacre.   
	A neighbor of the families had visited Amritsar, Punjab, a few days back, and on his return informed the families on 8 March 2017 that he had met Abdul Rashid Parray on the roadside in Amritsar. Abdul Rashid Parray told him that he would not spare the family members of the victims who have been seeking justice in this case. 
This is the latest of threats issued by Abdul Rashid Parray in a 21 year old case where despite FIR no.125/1996 having been filed, the police has sought to assist the accused who continue to evade arrest. In fact, the accused have been allowed to roam freely. Following the case being taken before the High Court, the police was pressurized to initiate proceedings for the seizure of the property of the accused. But, in reality, the accused continue to enjoy access to their properties and, as can be seen from the latest threats issued, the accused appear to have no fear of the police or courts. On 27 February 2017, the family members of the victims, in a public gathering, asked the Senior Superintendent of Police, Bandipora, to ensure police protection for the families, and ensure the arrest of the accused and for the chargesheet to be filed. 
Following the latest threat, an application has been made to the concerned police authorities to provide police protection, immediately file a FIR into this matter and ensure the arrest of the accused. The next date of hearing before the High Court is on 17 March 2017. 
Despite the obstacles, and the direct and immediate threat to life, the family members of the victims will continue their struggle.
· HC asks police for report on rape and murder by Ikhwanis
March 30: The J&K High Court directed the Superintendent of Police Bandipora to file a status report on the case of rape and murder of a girl in Preng area of Bandipora allegedly by Ikhwani Rashid Pahloo and his aide Bashir Ahmad Rather in 1993. 
The 22-year-old victim was abducted and raped for months by Rashid Pahloo and Bashir Ahmad Rather in 1993. Because of the rape, the victim had become pregnant and developed medical complications leading to her death in the same year. Mysteriously, the FIR number 139/1995 was filed two years after the incident in police station Sumbal under section 376 and 302 RPC for torture, rape and murder.
No investigations were carried out in the case, neither were statements of witnesses recorded. The brother of the victim, who was a minor then, finally filed a petition in the High Court in 2015 demanding the constitution of a special investigation team for credible investigations in the case. In 1999, Rashid Pahloo killed the victim’s brother, Bilal Ahmad, in an apparent attempt to clear away witnesses from his crime.
The girl’s family was unable to pursue the case after the killing of her brother Bilal Ahmad, fearing reprisal from the Ikhwanis “who have been always supported and sponsored by the Armed Forces in the area. The accused Rashid Pahloo is also actively engaged with the People’s Democratic Party (PDP).
The JKCCS has demanded immediate arrest of the accused Ikhwanis and a credible investigation leading to the prosecution of the accused.

Media Persons Continued to Face “Unjustified” State Forces Action

The local journalists continued to face the state forces hostilities while performing their professional oblations. This month in a shocking incident, a photojournalist was almost strangulated by a Special Operation Group (SOG) officer in front of dozens of media men.   
· Police Assail Photojournalists
March 16: Senior photojournalists Tauseef Mustafa and Mubashir Khan were assaulted by police during a press conference called by pro-freedom leaders at the Hyderpora residence of Syed Ali Geelani. All major English and Urdu language newspapers in Kashmir will not publish police press statements or advertisements from the police department till the director general of police apologises for an assault on reputed photojournalist Tauseef Mustafa by a police officer 
“A police officer dragged me and held me by the throat. He abused me and threatened me of dire consequences. I don’t know the reason for the assault,” Tauseef said.
Many journalists had gathered outside Geelani’s residence to cover the press conference. The police did not allow the journalists to go inside and instead threatened and chased them away. “The policemen on duty did not allow us to do our duty. They even tried to hit one of our colleagues with their Rakshak vehicle,” the president of the Kashmir Press Photographers Association, Farooq Javed Khan, said.
The Kashmir Video Journalists Association (KVJA) later held a meeting and condemned the assault on an Agence France Presse (AFP) photojournalist and other photo and video journalists.
The KVJA demanded the suspension of the police officer responsible for the assault. “We appeal to the authorities to order an impartial inquiry into this incident as soon as possible,” the KVJA said in a statement.
Protests erupted in Parraypora and Hyderpora areas in the afternoon with scores of youth attacking the police personnel there with stones. According to eyewitnesses, the youth also targeted several police vehicles parked on Airport Road with stones. The government forces fired teargas shells at the youth to disperse them. Following the clashes, all shops and business outlets were closed in the area.
A police spokesman said there was apprehension of “breach of peace” outside the residence of  Geelani at Hyderpora during which the road leading to Airport  got blocked.
“Police present had to intervene to ensure smooth flow of traffic. During this some photojournalists who were trying to approach to the residence of Geelani were requested not to proceed ahead as it would have escalated the situation. The Photo journalists remained adamant and tried to proceed ahead without giving any heed to the police request,” it said.
The higher officers of the police have taken cognizance of the matter, it added.
On March 19, all major English and Urdu language newspapers in Kashmir will not publish police press statements or advertisements from the police department till the director general of police apologises for an assault on reputed photojournalist Tauseef Mustafa by a police officer.
Kashmir Editors Guild (KEG), an organisation of owners/editors of major newspapers, said the boycott of police handouts and advertisements will continue also till the DGP initiates an action against the said officer.
At a meeting, KEG members took a strong note of “unwarranted police action against news photographers” and regretted recurrence of such assaults that makes photographers’ work difficult.
“Given the fact that the police have not even registered an FIR, for which the photographers have already moved an application, the KEG decided that it will, in protest, not publish any press note of the police or any advertisement from the police organization till police chief does not apologise for the assault and act against the accused officials,” a KEG spokesman said in a statement.
· Photojournalist wounded during clashes 
March 31: Freelance photojournalist Abid Bhat was injured during clashes between youth and government forces in Srinagar’s Rangreth area.
Abid said he was covering the protests when he took a hit from a policeman’s riot shield. He was removed to a private hospital where he received six stitches in his eyebrow.
Abid is a well-known photojournalist whose work has been published in BBC World, Wall Street Journal and Aljazeera and other renowned organisations.

Use of pellets about life and death: Supreme Court

March 27: Observing that use of pellets concerns life and death, the Supreme Court asked the government of India to consider effective means other than use of this ammunition to quell protests in Jammu and Kashmir.
A division bench headed by Chief Justice JS Khehar also expressed concern over injuries suffered by minors involved in protests in the Kashmir Valley and asked the government what action has been taken by it against their parents.
The top court asked Attorney General Mukul Rohatgi to file a detailed reply on what alternate effective steps could be taken to deal with such situation in the state. It posted the hearing for April 10.

SC asks GoI, JK govt to decide if Muslims in state are minority

March 27: The Supreme Court asked the governments of India and Jammu and Kashmir government to “sit together” and take a call on various issues including the question whether Muslims can be treated as minority in the state.
A bench comprising Chief Justice J S Khehar and Justices DY Chandrachud and SK Kaul asked both the governments to resolve the issue and submit a report within four weeks.
“This is a very important issue. You both sit together and take a stand on it,” the bench said.
Last month, the top court had imposed a cost of Rs. 30,000 on the government of India for not filing its reply to a Public interest litigation (PIL) alleging that minority benefits are being enjoyed by Muslims, who are in majority in Jammu and Kashmir. The court gave a final opportunity to file its reply, saying that the matter is important.
The court had, however, allowed the counsel for the Centre to file the response after depositing the cost and also noted that a fine of Rs 15,000 was imposed last time for the same reason.
Earlier, the court had issued notice to the Centre, the state government and the National Commission for Minorities (NCM) on the plea filed by Jammu-based advocate Ankur Sharma, alleging that benefits meant for minorities were being taken away by Muslims, who were in a majority in Jammu and Kashmir.

PSA quashed by court in Dec, but Bandipora man still missing

March 12: Bandipora: It has been three months since the High Court quashed the detention order under Public Safety Act (PSA) of Khurshid Ahmad Lone, a Muslim League activist from Naidkhai area of Bandipora, but his wife and her two teenage children are still running from pillar to post to know his whereabouts.
Khurshid Ahmad Lone’s PSA detention was quashed by the High Court in December last year. His family said that police arrested him on June 3 on some charges and he was detained at Sumbal police station after his arrest. After the killing of Hizb commander Burhan Wani on July 8 and during the mass uprising in Kashmir, Lone was slapped with PSA on August 2 and shifted to Kot Balwal Jail in Jammu, his family said.
Khurshid’s wife and their two children are frustrated about the fact that why police are denying information about him even after the high court has quashed the PSA case against him on December 22.
Masarat, Khurshid’s wife, said she has travelled to every jail in north Kashmir to know the whereabouts of her husband in the past 10 days. Everywhere she goes she meets with disappointment. At certain jails, she has been verbally abused, she said. “My husband was shifted to Sumbal police station after his PSA was quashed in December, but instead of releasing him, he was shifted to Baramulla Jail,” Masarat said. “After that, he was again brought to Sumbal, but since then I have received no information about my husband. Every police officer denies information of him and directs me to other officers. At times they abuse me with harsh words,” she alleged.
Masarat said that she has a daughter and a son to take care of, but in searching for her husband she has had to stop her work of shawl weaving. “I don’t get the time to work and the frustration of searching for my husband has taken a toll on my already fragile health. I have diabetes,” she said.
Her son Fazil, 17, instead of continuing his studies after passing the Class 10 examination, is doing menial jobs to feed his family. Masarat’s daughter, Arizu, 15, was studying at an Islamic seminary in Sopore but has returned home because of illness. “She has developed kidney stones,” Masarat said.
The order of the High Court that quashed the PSA case against Khurshid reads, “By issuance of writ Certiorari, order of detention bearing No. 04/DMB/PSA of 2016 dated 2nd August 2016 passed by respondent No 2, District Magistrate Bandipora, is quashed with further direction to the respondents to release the person of Shri Khursheed Ahmad lone S/O Muhammad Jamal Lone R/O Manzpora, Naidkhai, Hajin, District Bandipora, Kashmir, forthwith from prevention custody.”

Chittisinghpora Massacre
‘They are mistaken if they think we have forgotten’

March 20: Chittisinghpora massacre might appear as a closed chapter for the government but for Narinder Kour, who lost four family members in the bloodbath, the wounds are still fresh.
“I cannot forget the horror of the day till I am alive. It seems our beloved ones have been massacred only yesterday,” Kour told media.
On the evening of March 20, unidentified uniformed gunmen entered the Sikh village and killed at least members of the community after rounding them up near the local Gurduwara.
Recalling the fateful evening, Kour sad,”At around 8 pm some uniformed men entered our house and asked middle-aged and young male members to come out. I and my father-in-law also came out and questioned their action. But they assured us that all of them will be released after identification and questioning. Their assurance gave us some relief and we returned to the house.”
A few minutes later, she said, they heard a gunshot followed by heavy firing.
“The firing continued for at least five minutes. After the firing stopped we came out of our houses only to see our loved ones dead,” she said.
She said the killers had ensured that none of the people assembled near the Gurudwara survived.
Narinder Kour (inserted) Families of victims at a memorial service
“Every victim had been showered with five to six bullets in their chests and heads,” she said.
Gagandeep was only 10 years old when the massacre took place, but he still recalls “little streams of blood that flowed from the bodies of the victims”.
Gagandeep lost his father Utam Singh, a maternal uncle and two cousins in the massacre.
“The killers did not even let those returning from work to enter their homes. They caught hold of everyone returning from work in the evening and took them to the field near Gurudwara. Then they brought men from their homes,” he said.
He said many such incidents took place in the valley during the past 20 years but no government bothered to probe this massacre.
“The silence of the people at helm over this murder of innocent Sikhs is not only painful but also raises many questions,” Gagandeep said.
“Nothing will heal our wounds. But once the killers are identified our pain will ease a bit. If these people think that we will forget they are mistaken. Organising remembrance meetings on the anniversary of the massacre is only aimed to convey the killers and the rulers that we have not forgotten,” he said.

If army will not stop harassment, we will migrate: Kishtwar Residents 

March 12: The people of some villages of Kishtwar district in Chenab Valley have threatened migration in case forces don’t stop harassing the residents, a charge denied by Police and Army. 
Residents of Sunder Dachan Kishtiwar alleged that troops of 17 Rashtirya Rifles (RR) stationed in the area have made their lives a hell. They said, “Even the students have stopped going to schools from past more than a week as they too are being harassed by the force personnel.” 
“At 11 PM last night, soldiers of 17 RR entered our houses and beat up inmates,” a delegation from the area, who visited Srinagar told media. 
They said the soldiers also ransacked the residential homes and broke the windowpanes.
The delegation said from last more than a week soldiers are harassing them without provocation. “There are no militants in the area. Why are unable to understand why we are being harassed. Our area has no road and telecom connectivity,” they added.
“When we go to police, SPOs are being directed to investigate who in turn abuse us,” they said and threatened to migrate from the area incase harassment is not stopped. “Nobody is listening to us and we have been left at Almighty’s mercy,” they said. “The prevailing situation will forces us to migrate,” the delegation threatened. 
The Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP), Kishtwar, Sandeep Wazir denied the harassment and said it was routine operation in the area Tuesday evening. “Last evening, the Army saw some suspicious movement and searched the areas,” SSP told Greater Kashmir, adding that nobody was harassed. 
The SSP said that somebody called him from Sunder Dachan. “There is a satellite phone but there is no road connectivity,” he added
Meanwhile, Army’s Udhampur based spokesman denied ransacking and harassment. "It was routine anti-militancy operation," he said.

Gunfight site littered with unexploded shells; locals allege loot

March 06: The house of Mohammad Ramzan Ganie, where the two deceased militants were staying, has been completely razed to ground. The mangled utensils, tin sheets and other commodities lie scattered, with bullet piercings all over, along with several unexploded mortar shells.
Recalling the initial moments of the encounter, Ghulam Rasool Rather, owner of an adjacent house, said, “The army, SOG and policemen barged into our house and instantly started breaking windows and doors. After this they ordered us to leave the house immediately. We left everything behind and rushed out to save ourselves. After the end of the encounter, we found not only our house damaged, but that the troops had also looted our gold ornaments and cash. My son had got married just a few months ago and that’s why we had kept all the gold and cash at home. The walls and roofing of our house has been damaged and the walls have tilted due to use of heavy artillery. This house is unfit for staying now.”
Another neighbour, Ghulam Mohammad Sheikh, who lives adjacent to the encounter site, made the same complaint. “I had kept an amount of 50,000 rupees for buying a spray motor and other equipment for my orchard, but it is missing after the encounter. More than fifty army men came inside our house through the windows at the back. We were chased away and it was our Sikh neighbour, Nanak Singh, who provided us refuge during the encounter. The army men even tried to barge in his house but he didn’t open the gate. The windows and doors of my house have been broken as the army men took position from my house to take the vantage positions, as it is a three-storey house.”
As local people were visiting the encounter site, there were several unexploded shells lying around. Locals had either kept wooden planks or porous tin sheets around these shells.
“I fear for the safety of people. I am standing here next to this shell since the morning to direct people to not come near this spot. Some of the shells have gone missing since the morning,” said Abdul Rashid, a local, pointing towards an unexploded shell.
To collectively help the owner of the house that was razed to ground during the operation, locals were collecting funds at the funeral and also at the encounter site with people contributing in good numbers.
“It is our collective responsibility to help our brother in this hour of grief. He couldn’t retrieve anything before or after the encounter and has lost everything. Demolition of his house is the punishment given to him for giving shelter to rebels. We will do everything possible to rebuild this house,” said a local, requesting anonymity, while stacking bundles of 100-rupee notes.
	South Kashmir Range deputy inspector general of police SP Pani, however, told Kashmir Reader, “It is the target house only which has come down and accusations of damage to other houses are inflated. People should appreciate that the collateral damage was minimum. Some of the damages are beyond our control due to the IED explosions. Nobody among the forces damaged anything deliberately.”
He added, “While being caught in a life and death situation nobody bothers about cash and gold and I strongly deny any of our men have looted anything, especially with so many senior officials present at the spot. We have also made a general appeal to the public to not venture around the area and we will be cleaning the place with the help of the bomb disposal squad.”

9 hit by pellets in eyes in Tral

March 07: There is no end to use of pellets in Kashmir and at least nine people sustained pellet injuries in eyes during forces firing at an encounter site at Hayena in Tral area of South Kashmir’s Pulwama district on March 5.
“Although we were far from the encounter site, the security men indiscriminately fired pellets and teargas smoke shells towards the people staging protests. The pellets hit my left eye. I am unable to see anything from the left eye,” said an injured youth undergoing treatment at SMHS hospital.
The security men fired pellets and tear smoke shells to disperse people protesting against launching of an anti-militancy operation in Hayena village in Tral the other day.
At least nine people sustained pellet injuries in eyes and were referred to SMHS Hospital, Srinagar for specialized treatment.
	Head of Ophthalmology department at SMHS hospital, Dr Tariq Qureshi told Rising Kashmir that all the patients, who were brought to the hospital yesterday, have sustained serious eye injuries due to pellets.
“We received nine pellet victims. They have suffered more than 80 percent damage in one of their eyes and most of them have very bleak chance of regaining the vision,” he said.
He said three patients namely Aadil, Waseem and Mushtaq left the hospital on their own to appear in board examination.
Riyaz Ahmad, a resident of Hafoo area of Tral said, “I and my friends were far off from the encounter site and were not part of the protests. Still the security men fired pellets, rubber bullets and teargas smoke shells towards us due to which I sustained serious injury in my left eye”.
An attendant of a pellet victim, pleading anonymity, said, “Two of my neighbors hit by pellets are undergoing treatment at Bone and Joints Hospital, Srinagar”.

Blast Injures Four Kids in Sopore

March 05: Four minor boys were injured in a “mysterious” explosion in Pazalpora area of Sopore area of Baramulla district in north Kashmir.
The victims—Akash Riyaz Bhat and his brother Rashid Riyaz Bhat sons of Riyaz Ahmad Bhat; Shakir Husain Dar son of Ghulam Hassan Dar and Sahil Rasheed Lone son of Abdul Rashid Lone—suffered injuries when one of them picked up and tossed on ground an “explosive substance” in the Eidgah playground in Pazalpora, which is close to an army camp.
Sahil was referred to SMHS hospital in Srinagar because his injuries were serious. Sopore block medical officer Dr Sami said Sahil had injuries in right hand, abdomen and legs.
One of the injured boys (his parents requested not to mention his name) told media, “We were playing and we went there to fetch ball. We found this thing and when he (named a boy) threw it on the ground an explosion occurred.”
The other of one of the kids said on the condition of anonymity, “We want police to investigate how this explosive substance landed up at the ground where our children often go to play. Today it was my kid tomorrow it would be somebody else’s.”
Sopore superintendent of police Harmeet Singh said “it was some mysterious substance blast which our team is investigating”.

No end to blinding of youth 
Pellets shatter vision of 3 more youth

March 27: Three more youth from south Kashmir’s Pulwama district lost vision to the deadly pellets during action by government forces on protestors.
Writhing in pain, Suhail Ahmad pleads with his friends in Ward No. 8 of SMHS hospital here for help. “This pain is unbearable. Do something,” Ahmad catches hold of one of his friends. His right eye is bandaged and blood stains are all over his shirt.
A senior doctor said the pellets have perforated the eyes of 25-year-old Ahmad. “We have given him preliminary treatment but his eye is bad, let’s see how it responds,” the doctor added. One of the friends attending to Ahmad said they were told by doctors that he has five pellets in the injured eye.
Amid the discussion among the friends, an elderly couple, sitting on the floor of the Ward, adjacent to the bed of the injured youth, was praying for his speedy recovery. “They are his parents,” said Ashiq Hussain, Ahmad’s friend. “He (Ahmad) is the lone earning hand in the family which includes his four sisters.”
“What will happen to him? Will he regain his vision? Please tell us clearly,” were some of the questions Ahmad’s parents were asking every passerby who stopped to inquire about his condition.
“This eye will now just be a showpiece,” a burly youth in his late 20’s quipped. “I have gone through this tragedy,” said the youth identifying himself as Shuaib Mushtaq from Qamarwari as he took off his sunglasses to show his left eye. “It (the eye) was hit by pellets in September last year. Since then I have undergone five surgeries and treatment here and at Hyderabad. But there hasn’t been a one percent improvement in the vision.”
As Ahmad’s friends were listening to Mushtaq, a teenage student from Keegam, Zubair Ahmad Bhat, with his left eye bandaged was shifted into the Ward. “He too was hit by pellets at Belov (in Pulwama) in his eye and body during forces’ action on the protestors,” said one of his friends, who identified himself as Noman Nabi.
He said scores of people were returning after offering funeral prayers for the slain militant Shahbaz Shafi Wani alias Rayees Kachroo who was killed by the government forces yesterday. “Suddenly the protests started and the forces fired pellets on us,” said Noman.
Bhat has his left eye perforated by the pellets. Both Ahmad and Bhat, class 11th students, were injured at Belov.
Another senior doctor said a third person from Pulwama was received at the hospital with pellet injuries in his eye. “But the injuries are superficial,” the doctor said.

4,949 more pellet guns for CRPF in Kashmir

March 02: The Ministry of Home Affairs has made fresh authorisation of 4,949 pellet guns for CRPF units deployed as Rapid Action Force, and Mahila Batallion in J&K, taking the total number of pump action guns to 5,589.
Around nine pump action guns will be available with every company (around 120 personnel). More than six lakh matching cartridges, commonly referred to as pellet-shots, have also been authorised, up from 1.25 lakh last year, DNA India reported.
Currently, the Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) has 640 pump action guns, widely known as pellet guns, but in the coming months more than 4,000 will be procured.
Pertinently, The Ministry of Home Affairs had promised last year to restrict the use of pellet guns against civilian protesters and explore other options.
Kashmir witnessed 14 pellet deaths and thousands of injuries last year.

SHRC Orders Fresh Probe into 27 Year Old Encounter

March 04: State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has ordered a fresh probe into the 24 years old encounter in which according to forces agencies 20 militants had been gunned down. The encounter had taken place at Puner area of North Kashmir’s Bandipora district on 17 October 1993 and out of 20 slain ‘militants’ the identity of only 7 had been ascertained.
Chairman SHRC, Retired Justice Bilal Ahmed Nazki while ordering a fresh probe into this encounter has appointed SP SHRC as the investigating officer.
“A report has been filed by the Deputy Commissioner Bandipora in which it is stated that during an encounter between militants and Security Forces, 20 militants were killed five of them were identified and bodies of them were handed over to their families who buried them,” the order reads.
	It further states that the report has been contested by the petitioner, chairman International Forum for Justice Muhammad Ahsan Untoo. In these circumstances, let SP of the SHRC conduct an independent enquiry into the matter and file the report within six months time.”
As per the complaint filed by Untoo, Government Forces allegedly killed 20 persons in the Puner village on October 17, 1993 when forces cordoned off the area for search operation. The FIR was lodged in police station Bandipora vide number 1455/93 under section 307 RPC 4 TADA, 25/27 Indian Arms Act.
The complaint further reads that during the course of investigation, one ASI Muhammad Yousuf and Muhamamd Yaseen of police station Bandipora accompanied the Army troops on October 17 during the cordon and search at Puner at 6:30 am and there was cross firing between the alleged militants and the army and during which 20 persons were killed and one army soldier, namely Ram Das was injured.
The complaint also reads that 20 persons killed during cross firing were labelled as militants and out of which only five persons were identified as locals and rest of persons were labelled as unidentified foreign nationals belonging to Pakistan and Afghanistan.
Untoo told CNS that he will wait for the SHRC’s final report. He claimed that 20 persons killed in this encounter were those who had been put to death during Hazratbal siege in the same year.

Govt Admits 22 Unarmed Protesters were Killed in Gow Kadal Massacre

March 14: After 26 years of the Gow Kadal massacre, the government has admitted that 22 unarmed protestors were killed and 12 had sustained injuries.
The government’s reply has come in response to a petition filed by human rights activist Ahsan Untoo before the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) in April 2012.
Notably, after the petition filed by Untoo, the SHRC had appointed Superintendent of Police (SP) SHRC on 26-12-2012 to investigate the matter. The investigation continued for 51 months.
The SHRC report reveals, “The report received from Police Hospital Srinagar and other hospital records have given the number of dead in the incident as 22 and injured as 12.”
The report further reads that a case under FIR 3/1990 under section 147, 188, 153, 307 etc had been lodged in the incident at Police Station Kral Khud, but even after an interminable delay of eight years the case was closed as untraced in the year 1998 and the final report has not been submitted to the courts for judicial determination.
“As per the report from DC Srinagar, an ex-gratia benefit of Rs 25,000 each as per the rate applicable at that time of incident as per government order no 145/R/520-523/AC dated 26-07-1990, has been sanctioned and provided in favor of NOKs of only 06 deceased in the incident,” report reads.
	It further reads that there are contradictory versions by the authorities as to whether curfew orders had been in imposition or not. “The Director General of Police JK in his report has acknowledged that curfew had been imposed but the authorities have failed to identify the Magistrate of the area on that particular day.
This is a serious matter, if police version is to be given credence that the mob had turned violent, it is imperative to ask as to who functioned as magistrate and gave orders to open fire,” the report adds.
The report said that the however, no official order or confirmation, despite DGP’s averment could be produced by the concerned to corroborate that curfew had been in place or any credible explanation provided as to why it is not known that who conducted the duties of Magistrate on that date, in Gow Kadal locality on that particular day.
Meanwhile, SHRC in their report said, “The District Administration may be asked to identify all the victims and suitable benefits admissible under rules be extended to them. The officials of the district administration have been unjustifiably parsimonious in the sharing of information in the instant matter.”
The report also said that the district police administration may be asked t what action has been taken, if any against the then SHO “whose criminal recklessness has been highlighted by the IO’s of the case at different places in their case diaries”.
“It is pertinent to mention that timely, effective and professional investigation of the case in the earlier stages would have served the cause of justice. Also the officer named in the complaint (the then SP Srinagar) has already passed away,” the report reads.
The reports adds that after lapse of more than 26 years, the investigation agencies have failed to establish individual/joint responsibility of security forces involved in the Gow Kadal firing incident of 21 Jan, 1990. 

High Court asks Trial Court to relook into bail pleas

March 02: The Jammu and Kashmir High Court asked a Bandipora court to relook into the matter of bail pleas of two Police officials who were arrested following their indictment by Crime Branch in a case related to “custodial” killing of man in Bandipora in 2006. 
Disposing of revision petitions by SI Bashir Ahmad Khan, and Abdul Aziz Thakur against the order of Principal Sessions Judge Bandipora who rejected their bail, a bench of Justice Ali Muhammad Magrey directed the Trial Court to relook into the matter without getting influenced by observations made by it. 
The revision petitions as also the bail application are disposed of by directing the Trial Court to take a re-look in the matter on the touchstone of the law applicable and the circumstantial change, if any, without getting influenced by any of the observations made in this order,” the court said while asking the Principal Sessions Judge Bandipora to hear bail applications by the accused on March 4. 
The accused had approached High Court against the order of Principal Sessions Judge Bandipora who rejected their bail applications. 
One Zahoor Ahmad Sofi was allegedly taken into custody by the Special Operation Group of the J&K Police of Kaloosa Bandipora and was kept in wrongful confinement for days before killing him by torture on September 3/ 4 in 2006. 
Police Station Bandipora registered a case (FIR no. 125/2007) for the offences for the commission punishable under sections 302, 343, 467, 468, 471, 201, 34 and 109 of the RPC. 
Following its “probe” the Police for the offence of murder under RPC filed charge-sheet before the court of Chief Judicial Magistrate Bandipora against an SPO Farooq Ahmad Dar of Rakhi Shilwat Sumbal who was” dead” at the time of the filing of the charge sheet at the court of CJM. 
The CJM, Bandipora, in terms of his order dated December 12, 2011, recorded his dissent with the conclusion arrived at by the investigating agency as he felt that the higher officers of the Police Department are being tried to be shielded by fastening the liability of the offence to a dead police cop.
The CJM directed the Crime Branch Kashmir to carry out further investigation into the case. 
Subsequently, the Crime Branch, presented charge sheet before the CJM Bandipora who committed the same to the court of Sessions Judge. 
During the pendency of trial while the three accused moved bail application before the Sessions Judge Bandipora, the court on May 3, 2016, rejected the bail of the accused. 
The accused approached the High Court in a criminal revision against the order of Sessions Judge Bandipora. 
The accused police officials through their counsel Z A Qureshi pleaded that the “Sessions Judge, erred in law by rejecting the bail application of the petitioners, for, the offences alleged to have been committed by the petitioners do not carry the capital punishment as the petitioners were alleged to have manipulated the daily diary after the death of deceased to conceal the fact and evidence regarding day and date of lifting of the deceased from his residence”. 
Advocate Ashraf Wani represented the victim family.

Arrests
· 
· Families of Arrested Kishtwar Youth Contest Police Claim
March 10: Family members of the three Kishtwar youth arrested in Srinagar’s Bemina area have contested the police claim that the three are over-ground workers of the Hizbul Mujahideen.
Mohammad Ramzan, father of 27-year-old Reyaz Ahmad, told media that his son was visiting Srinagar to consult a doctor for his wife. “His wife is seven months pregnant and she was supposed to undergo a test which is not performed in Kishtwar. He along with his wife came to Srinagar on March 1,” he said.
Reyaz accompanied by his pregnant wife was arrested more than a week ago along with two other persons – Tawseeul and Ikhlaq Ahmad of Kistwar.
According to his family members, Reyaz had been working as a contractual government teacher for three years. “The couple had been struggling to have a baby after marriage. Now his wife was pregnant and he wanted the delivery to be free from any complications.
That was why he came with her to Srinagar to have the medical tests done,” his family said.
Police said that Reyaz’s wife was kept at the women police station for nearly 24 hours before she was released. The family of Reyaz say that for nearly a week they had no news of their son and daughter-in-law.
Reyaz, his younger brother said, is the main bread-earner of the family and takes care of his two brothers, three sisters, aged parents and an uncle.
“He was more concerned about earning for his family. There is no truth in the police claims,” his brother said.
Like Reyaz, Tawseeul is also a contractual teacher in a government higher secondary school at Kishtwar. “He has been a teacher for more than five years now,” a relative said.
His relative added that the youth was on his way to meet his sister, who is married in a family that lives in Srinagar’s downtown area.
Another youth, Ikhlaq, who according to the family had recently appeared in a physical endurance test to join the police department, was on his way to a condolence meeting at the house of a Srinagar family where he had once worked as a labourer.
Ikhlaq, a family friend said, belongs to a financially weak family and supports his family that includes an “almost blind father”.
On March 8, police claimed to have arrested the three youth on suspicions of being Over Ground Workers (OGW) of Hizbul Mujahideen militant outfit.
The police are carrying out an investigation against the trio, who have been accused of having links with a top Hizbul militant, Jahangir Saroori, currently active in Kishtwar.
The police claimed they recovered two pistols, two pistol magazines, 20 rounds of ammunition, four grenades, one wireless set, and a packet of explosive substance from the accused.
The arrests of the youth came after the security establishment expressing concerns of a possible revival of militancy in Chenab Valley areas, especially in Doda.
· Police arrest several teenage boys in downtown
March 20: About 25 boys, most of them under 18 years of age, were arrested by police in downtown Srinagar on Sunday, their family members said. They said ahat police laid a cordon in and around the old city on Sunday and arrested 25 youth on charges of stone pelting. Most of the arrested boys have been lodged at Sri Ranbir Singh Gunj police station.
Waiting outside the police station, the families of the arrested boys claimed that their children were not part of any protest and that police had arrested them on false charges. Most of the arrested boys are juveniles, students of classes 8-10.
A family member of one of the arrested boys said that he did not know the whereabouts of his nephew till he received a call from him saying he had been arrested.
“My nephew is only 16 years old. He along with his friend was arrested when they were travelling to his maternal home on a scooter. I received a call from him at about 7pm. He said he had been arrested by police and then the phone got disconnected. I did not know in which police station he was,” the boy’s uncle said.
“He was not part of any protest. How can a person be part of stone-pelting while driving a scooter?” he said.
Relatives and family members of the other arrested boys said that police are not saying clearly on what charges the boys have been arrested. “We don’t even know how they arrested our children. We are waiting since morning to meet our children,” the relatives and family members said.
The father of an arrested boy said that his son, a Class 7 student, was arrested while he was on his way to visit a dentist. “Our son had gone to visit the dentist. He was in an autorickshaw when he was arrested by police. The police took him to the Ranbir Singh Gunj police station, from where he called us and informed about the arrest,” the father said.
“If they have arrested a Class 7 student, how they can keep him in lockup for more than 24 hours?” he said.
	Station House Officer SR Gunj, Mohammad Manzoor told Reader that the police have evidence against the arrested boys and are investigating further. He refused to provide further information over the phone.
“We have videos and pictures which prove that the arrested youth have been part of stone-pelting and clashes with police,” Manzoor said. “If you need any more information, you should come down to the station or contact the Superintendent of Police,” he said.
Despite several attempts to contact him, SP Khanyar Sajad Khanday was not available to take the call.
· 90 youths arrested in Pulwama
March 21: Ahead of by polls for Anantnag parliamentary seat, police in Pulwama district has launched a major crackdown against youth, arresting at least 90 during the past two weeks.
These persons have been picked up from Naira, Kakpora, Ratnipora, Tahab and Karimabad areas of the district.
Only last night, they said, policemen carried out night raids on various houses in Muran and Kongun villages and arrested 21 one persons, including a 65-year-old man on charges of participating in stone-throwing protests.
Many of the arrested persons, who are lodged in various police stations, are students. Last week, family members of the arrested youth had demonstrated outside police station Pulwama, seeking release of their kin.
They had alleged that the police was delaying the release of their kin for unknown reasons.
	A police official who wished anonymity said the arrested youths are involved in “disrupting law and order in the district”.
“We have the evidence against all of them about their involvement in stone-throwing protests. Some of them were involved in pasting posters calling for election boycott,” the police official said.
However, SSP Pulwama Muhammad Rayees, while confirming the arrest of around 90 youth, said the arrests have nothing to do with upcoming polls.
“There is no link between arrests of youth and polls. They were involved in stone pelting and were arrested after being identified through videos. We arrest only those against whom we get evidence,” the SSP told Kashmir Reader.
He said 22 FIRs involving scores of youths have been registered in several police stations.
“On the basis of these FIRs we have so far arrested 90 youths after their involvement was established,” the police officer said.
In Chawalgam area of Kulgam district, police arrested at least three youths last night. To protest the arrests of youth, a complete shutdown was observed in the area.
In this area, three PDP workers suffered injuries on March 19 after a group of youth attacked them with stones during an election meeting at the local rest house.
Polls are scheduled for Anantnag parliamentary seat, which includes four districts of the region—Anantnag, Pulwama, Kulgam and Shopian—on April 12.
· 65 members of Whatsapp groups held in past 3 weeks in Pulwama 
March 23: Whatsapp groups have sent 65 persons in Pulwama to police custody. Police say they have arrested these persons as a security measure. The arrests have likely been made to prevent unrest in the lead-up to the Lok Sabha by-elections in Anantnag and Srinagar.
“The arrests were made in the past three weeks,” Senior Superintendent of Police Pulwama, Rayees Bhat, told media.
Bhat said that the persons arrested included administrators of 30-35 Whatsapp groups.
The persons were arrested from several villages of Pulwama district and also from the main town.
Another police official said that the arrested youth have a history of involvement in instigating violence and stone-throwing incidents.
Some of the Whatsapp groups, according to police sources, had members from across the border and at least two groups were administered by persons based in Pakistan.
The police have launched a massive hunt in the area as part of a major crackdown and arrested 90 persons in total ahead of the by-poll scheduled in Anantnag on April 12. Almost all of the 1,600 polling stations in the constituency have been categorised by the election commission as either ‘sensitive’ or ‘hypersensitive’.
The security establishment has also beefed up vigil in the area in view of the increased militancy in south Kashmir.
· Police ‘raid’ private school to arrest a minor 
March 25: Probably for the first time, police tried to storm a private school in Srinagar to arrest a class 10 student and alleged stone thrower, who eventually surrendered after his father was arrested in his place.
However, authorities of the Standard Public School, Upper Soura, didn’t let the police to enter the premises and stopped them at the gate.
“Authorities had a heated argument with police and resolutely told them that no student will be handed over to them,” said a school staffer on condition of anonymity as he feared reprisals.
A few local residents who witnessed the incident said the student’s father rushed to the school after being informed about the raid. But he was arrested on the spot and told he would be set free only after his son surrenders at the police station.
The boy is in the police station since and the father has been released.
A few students who witnessed school authorities’ resistance to the raid said they were terrified and many of them screamed.
“We feared we might be picked up and we made plans how to escape from school. It was scary,” said a student.
The principal of the school, Ghulam Nabi Zargar, said, “It was not a raid. The police had come with a request that we should counsel students so that they do not indulge in stone throwing.”
“But what annoyed us was that they had come here in khaki uniforms and were carrying arms which didn’t go well with the faculty and students here,” the principal said.
Zargar said the police told him to cancel the half-day holiday on Friday so that students would remain busy with studies for the whole day “rather than witnessing or pelting forces with stones”.
Station Houses Officer of Soura Police Station GM Rather told Kashmir Reader said “we didn’t carry any such activity”. He told this reporter to contact Hazratbal Superintendent of Police for further information.
However, several attempts by media to contact the SP did not fructify. The officer did not reply to KR calls on his personal mobile number provided to this reporter by the Police Control Room telephone exchange. Two officials at Hazratbal police station who responded to four calls by media on landline number—one of them identified himself as the SP’s PA—said the officer was busy.
· Nocturnal raids continue, 3 civilians arrested in Shopian
March 24: Police have arrested three more civilians during nocturnal raids in south Kashmir’s Shopian district.
The arrests were made in Dangam Village of the district, local sources said.
They said police barged in to the residential houses at around 2 am and arrested the civilians.
The arrested persons according to locals include Mohammad Shafi Paul S/O Ali Mohammad Paul, Sakib Basheer S/O Basheer Ahmad Shaikh and Fazil Ahmad Bhat S/O Gul Mohammad Bhat.
Locals told Kashmir Reader that all the three persons were innocent and not affiliated to pro-freedom party.
· 135 arrested in south Kashmir’
March 26: Ahead of by polls for Anantnag parliamentary seat, Police have launched a massive crackdown against youth in south Kashmir by arresting at least 135 youth in past two weeks. Around 115 of them have been rounded up in Pulwama Police district alone, sources told media.
They said that these youth have been picked up from Karimabad, Kakpora, Lelhar, Tahab, Naira, Mitrigam, Muran , Kongan, Ruhmu and Goosu areas. 
On March 25 night, , locals said, in Mitrigam village Police raided several houses and arrested at least a dozen youth allegedly involved in stone pelting and protests.
“The arrested youth were wanted for disrupting law and order in the district by resorting to violence,” a police official said. 
“In Pulwama district the number of people arrested in last two weeks has reached around 115. Among them is a 65 year old man too. The arrested persons are lodged in various police stations of the district,” claimed a source. 
Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Pulwama Rayees Bhat said, "Arrested youth were involved in creating law and order problem. About 70 youth have been arrested in Pulwama during past few days".
“In Awantipora police district a youth of Braw Bandian village was arrested by Police for carrying election boycott posters. In Shopian district at least 20 youth have been rounded up so far. These people have been arrested from Imam Sahib, Harmain and Memandar areas,” the source added. 
The SSP Shopian Tahir Saleem said, “The arrested youth are involved in stone pelting." 
In Kulgam, district locals said, at least 3 youth were rounded up in Chawalgam village after PDP workers convention was pelted with stones at Dakbanglow-Kulgam. Three PDP workers had sustained injuries in the attack.  “Police have booked our kin on frivolous grounds and are now delaying their release,” the families alleged. They also alleged harassment during nocturnal raids.
· PSA slapped of two persons
March 26: Police arrested two persons and subsequently booked them under Public Safety Act. Both were reportedly suffreiing from serious ailments.
	A 45-year-old, Lateef Ahmad Kaloo, a pro-freedom activist and member of Muslim League since his youth, of Sopore town was arrested and booked under PSA on charges of taking part in anti-India protests. He has been sent to Kot Balwal jail in Jammu. Lateef was to undergo an operation for a serious prostrate illness.	
In another case, police arrested a senior Hurriyat (G) leader Ghulam Mohammad Khan Sopori and subsequently booked him under the draconian Public Safety Act.
Reportedly, Khan, was suffering from several ailments, has been sent to Kot Bhalwal Jail in Jammu.
· Police arrests Pulwama boy blinded in one eye in 2016 unrest
March 25: A youth who lost his sight in one eye due to pellet injury in 2016 unrest was arrested by Pulwama Police during a nocturnal raid on Wednesday in Murran village of South Kashmir’s Pulwama District.
Mudasir Ahmad Yatoo, 17, pellet-blinded in one eye was arrested by police on the allegations of stone pelting.
Due to the serious pellet injury in his left eye, Yatoo, a resident of Sheikhpora Murran was reportedly staying home at the time since 2016 unrest.
“When my son was hit by pellets in 2016 unrest, from that date he was not part of any protests or stone pelting and was bedridden. Still police arrested him on the stone pelting charges,” said Yatoo’s father, Bashir Ahmad.
The family alleged that, despite the promises by the government to provide compensation to the pellet hit youth, the boys are being victimized and arrested instead.
Ahmad, a daily labor said, “My son need eye drop medicine and police officials are not allowing us to help our half -blind son.”
The tragedy of the Yatoo doesn’t end here, Bashir Ahmad said, day before yesterday when they were going to meet Yatoo in the police station, where they learnt that the seven youth who were arrested including their son were being taken to District Court Pulwama as police has filed FIRs against them.
Talking to media, SSP Pulwama Rayees Ahmad said, “Police is arresting only those youth against whom they have enough evidences of their illegal activities.”
However, no family has come up with a complaint regarding the disability of any arrested youth, Ahmad said.
· Clashes in Pulwama after 12 youth arrested in night raids
March 30: Clashes erupted in Arihal Pulwama following the arrest of at least 12 youth by police for their alleged involvement in protests.
Reports said that police last night raided dozens of residential houses in Arihal village and arrested at least 12 youth.
Police officials said the youth were involved in stone pelting and many more youth who are involved in stone pelting are to be arrested.
Locals stated that none of those arrested were involved in stone pelting incidents. “Police again Thursday evening reached the village for arresting more youth. People took to streets and pelted stones on police. The cops lobbed shells, triggering clashes,” official said.
The pitched battles were on when last reports came in.
“Two days ago youth from the village pelted stones on forces. Last night we arrested 12 of them,” SSP Pulwama Rayees Bhat said adding that police will arrest the stone pelters in the area.
· 2 men aged 50 and 60 detained in place of their absconding sons 
March 31: Two men aged 50 and 60 were arrested in place of their sons whom police are hunting on charges of stone throwing in Shopian. Four other men were also arrested during raids last night in the district
Maqbool Teli, 60, and 50-year-old Ghulam Nabi Bhat were arrested in place of their sons who the police accuse are involved in stone throwing and pro-freedom protests.
Local residents said police raided several residential houses in Trenz village of the district during the night and arrested Shabir Ahmad Bhat son of Basheer Ahmad Bhat; Irshad Ahmad Lone son of Ghulam Hassan Lone and Bilal Ahmad Teli son of late Abdul Majeed Teli, all residents of Trenz; and Bilal Ahmad Sheikh son of Basher Ahmad Sheikh, a resident of Babe Khider.
Shopian senior superintendent of police Tahir Saleem confirmed the arrests but said he was not aware about the arrest of the fathers.
“The other four persons arrested are involved in law and order and stone pelting cases,” he told media.

Now, Detaining Minors Won’t be Easy for Police

March 14: Detaining minors allegedly involved in street protests and other “offences” will no longer be easy for police in Kashmir as all such cases will henceforth be dealt by a special officer.
Officials said on directions of Director General of Police, S.P Vaid, a special officer of the rank of Sub-Inspector will be posted in police stations to deal with cases of “juvenile delinquency.”
“We have extended full support to ensure juvenile justice system is put in place in the state,” Vaid told media. He refuted reports that minors were booked under PSA during last year's summer uprising. “We can’t book any minor under PSA, it's not possible,'” he said.
 “After the Integrated Child Protection Scheme was put in place, there is a proper mechanism in place to deal with minor offenders,” said Mission Director, ICPS, Talat Pervez. He said police can’t directly arrest minors now.
“The cases pertaining to minors will be dealt by special police officers,” he said. “After assessing the nature of the crime, he/she would be handed over to Juvenile Justice Boards (JJBs) or Child Welfare Committees (CWCs).”
He said the state was lagging behind in juvenile justice system but with JJBs and CWCs, the situation will see improvement.


Houses of Policemen Under Attack 
· 
· Militants ransack Hazratbal SP’s home in Kulgam
March 29: As many as four militants reportedly entered and ransacked the home of Hazratbal superintendent of police Dawood Mattoo in Khudwani village of Kulgam district last evening.
Kulgam was on boil following the killing of a militant, Tauseef Ahmad, who hails from Yaripora village of the district, in Chadoora on March 28.
The militants reportedly threatened Dawood’s family before leaving the house.
Militants have made similar raids on the houses of a few police officers also.
· Families in panic as attacks on houses of JK policemen gain pace
March 29: While militants have stepped up activities against police officers by storming their houses at nights and allegedly resorting to ransacking of belongings and threatening the inmates, J&K police chief S P Vaid on March 29 hoped that “better sense would prevail soon” as “it is not a good thing.”
The DGP’s fresh remarks came a day after a group of militants broke into the house of a police officer at Khudwani area in south Kashmir’s Kulgam district and allegedly ransacked goods there while “issuing a stern warning” to the inmates. The police officer is serving in north Kashmir’s Bandipore district. The incident took place hours after three youth were killed by forces near a gunfight site at Chadoora in Budgam district where Hizbul Mujahideen militant Towseef Ahmed Wagay, a native of Yaripora Kulgam, was also killed.
Since March 8, at least four such incidents have taken place—three in South Kashmir’s Shopian and Kulgam districts and one in Central Kashmir’s Budgam district.
Such incidents, according to police sources, have sent the entire police department into a tizzy, prompting the top brass to “work out a plan to prevent such happenings in future.”
Soon after the first incident on March 8 in Shopian district of South Kashmir where at least 10 to 12 militants barged into the house of a senior police officer’s residence, DGP Vaid issued a warning asking militants to refrain from such acts. The DGP asked militants to face security forces face-to-face and keep the “families away from all this.”
“I can only hope that better sense prevails soon,” Vaid told media on March 29. “This is not a good thing. Families shouldn’t be involved into this.”
A police officer, posted in South Kashmir, said the fresh “trend” of militants barging into houses of policemen during nights has resulted in panic among several families. “What have our parents to do with our job? Ransacking household items and warning parents is something that has really resulted in depression among our families,” he said.
Police sources said if militants would continue to carry out such acts, “the police top brass will devise a strategy and ensure no such incident takes place.”
Pertinently, police asserts that earlier the militants used to issue threat to families through phones, posters or some ‘middle-men’ but storming houses of police officers is “something completely new and a disturbing trend.”
“Though the police have already investigated all the incidents wherein militants threatened the families of cops, the process has remained confined to investigations only,” a police source said. “In most of the cases, militants have been identified and cases registered in the respective police stations.”
Interestingly, last year, during the pro-freedom uprising triggered by the killing of Hizbul Mujahideen commander Burhan Wani, posters had surfaced against some police officers in their native villages with messages asking them to stop “troubling” those taking part in or spearheading the protests. In December, Hizbul Mujahideen commander Zakir Rashid Bhat had warned family members of policemen in a video message that they would be attacked if police “continue to harass” relatives of militants.
“You (police) have committed a big mistake by harassing our families, by involving our families,” Bhat had said in the message.
“If you touch our families, we will not spare your families. You think your families are in Jammu so they are safe. Even if your families are in Kanyakumari, we have the capacity to kill them there,” he had warned.
Timeline
March 08: 10 to12 gunmen vandalize house of a DySP rank officer in Shopian district; ask relatives to make him quit his job or face consequences.
March 25: Gunman barge into the house of a jail employee in Budgam district, abduct his son and take away his car. The son was released soon, but the car was found burnt. 
March 27: Gunmen barged into house of two policemen (brothers) in Shopian, open fire in air before fleeing.
March 28: Gunmen open fire on house of Additional Superintendent of Police, Bandipora at Khudwani, Kulgam. However, there was no injury reported. 

Army conducting door-to-door ‘survey’ in Sopore

March 29: Residents of several areas in Sopore have reported a door-to-door survey being conducted by the Indian Army’s Rashtriya Rifles (RR) unit deployed there. The army is gathering information about every family living in and around Sopore town, the residents say. The police and the civil administration deny any knowledge of a survey being carried out by the army.
Residents of Arampora area in Sopore town said that soldiers of the RR battalion arrived on March 26 and went door to door asking details of families living there.
Reports of a similar survey being carried out by the army for the past three days have come from Chinkipora, Maharajpur, Takiyabal, Syed Sultan Mohalla and Nowpora localities in Sopore.
“They inquired about our family size, names of family members, phone numbers, occupations, and even the number of family members living outside the state. The soldiers wanted to know how many servants and labourers were working for us. We have no idea why they are doing this,” a resident of Arampora said, wishing anonymity.
The head of a mohalla committee of Arampora said that on March 26 when he was at home, army soldiers came to his house and asked him about his family members. “They even asked about my son who is studying outside the state. They took my phone number before they left. I didn’t have the courage to ask them the reason behind this survey. I thought that such a survey was being carried out only in our locality, but I came to know later that the soldiers have been doing this in our neighbouring localities also,” the mohalla committee head said.
A member of the Auqaf committee of Nowpora told media that the army’s survey started on Saturdayin his area and was completed on Sunday. “As I was not at home on March 25, I came to know from my family members that the army was taking all information of every house in our locality,” he said.
When media contacted SSP Sopore Harmeet Singh, he said he had no idea about this survey.
SDM Sopore Bashir Ahmad also said he did not know anything about this survey.

Surveillance
200 CCTVs to be Installed at 53 Locations in Srinagar

March 23: To keep an eye on pro-freedom demonstrations, stone-pelting and militant activities, the police will cast a network of surveillance in the form of Close Circuit Camera TVs (CCTV) in Srinagar and other district headquarters of Kashmir Valley.
The police surveillance will start from Srinagar and later bring all the major towns of district headquarters under the CCTV network.
Giving details, a senior police official at the police headquarters (PHQ) told media that in Srinagar, CCTVs will be set up in 53 locations.
“We have identified 53 locations in Srinagar. Our main focus is to fix CCTVs at road intersections, main junctions, and on the highways,” the official said.
He said that the police have hired a Nagpur-based company, Neco Defense System, to install new surveillance cameras in Srinagar city.
“Each tower will be fitted with three to four cameras. It means about 200 cameras will be installed,” the police officer said. “We are using both the 180-degree and 360-degree view cameras. The resolution of the cameras will be able to focus even on number plates of cars or on any moving object.”
The main aim of the CCTV system is to improve security in Srinagar, which requires keeping surveillance on “demonstrations, stone-pelters and militant activities,” the officer said.

Police Chief Grills Officers for Violating Official Procedure

March 14: In a significant decision, Jammu and Kashmir Police chief Dr S P Vaid has picked up serious holes in the functioning of the Police department and has found majority of the official communications violate the set procedure as the names of the officers signing the documents are always missing. The DGP Vaid has made it clear that no document would be entertained without the proper name and signature of the Heads of Offices (HOs).
According to a circular issued by the Director General of Police (DGP) number GB/M-04-2016-17/ 19028-98, dated 13-03-2017, inspite of explicit directions issued by the Police Headquarters (PHQ) from time to time, it has, of late been observed that the PHQ is receiving official communications from different subordinate formations of Police department where the signing officer is not writing his name. “Most of these communications also bear signatures of officers other than the head of the concerned. Even communications are received directly from the SSPs/ Commandants, who seldom adhere to the prescribed channel of command,” the circular reads.
It reads the PHQ has taken a serious note of the practice at it violates the “order of command and laid down procedures.”
Pertinently, the General Administration Department (GAD) vide-circular number 7-GAD of 2015, Dated February 10, 2016, had also issued explicit directions that all officer/offices shall indicate their name, designation below their signatures while initiating any note/proposal for consideration of the Competent Authorities and on the communications exchanged with different departments. “The other details, like telephone numbers, e-mail addresses should also be mentioned on these communications without any fail,” the GAD circular reads.
The circular, however, issued by the DGP said it is therefore reiterated that Heads of all Wings/Zones shall ensure that while making correspondence with the PHQ on different official matters, the communication bears proper name and signatures of the concerned Head of the Office. “The communications signed by the subordinate officers (other than Heads of Offices) shall not be entertained. Similarly, communications not made through proper channel, shall also not be entertained,” the circular issued by the police chief reads.
Sources in the police department said that it was observed that majority of the officers including those of the SSPs were bypassing the concerned Heads of Offices and issuing communications without mentioning their names. “Many such communications were checked by the DGP himself prompting him to take action,” sources said.
Police sources said now that the circular stands issued, it would be “clear as to who has issued what order or official communiqué.”

Militarization
· 
· Govt transfers 4,80,000 kanal land to army
March 09: The Jammu and Kashmir government ordered transfer of 4.80 lakh kanal of State land in the cold desert region of Ladakh for use of artillery practice for army.
The State government’s Home department under SRO 93, in exercise of powers conferred by sub-section (1) of section (9) of the Maneuvers, Field Firing, and Artillery Practice Act, 1938, declared the area measuring 4.80 lakh kanal situated at Mandalthang, Shayok under Khasra No. 1803 located in Durbuk sub division in Leh district as an area for use of artillery practice for troops for a period of 5 years from March 6, 2017.
The decision of the government to transfer the State land for the use of army comes despite the assertions of the Chief Minister Mehbooba Mufti in the Legislative Assembly during the budget session in Jammu earlier this year that Government of India (GoI) as well as the State government had issued directions from time to time for vacation of all government and private buildings and land under occupation of the troops and paramilitary forces in Jammu Kashmir.
At that time, the chief minister had said that army and paramilitary forces continued to occupy 1036 buildings across the State of which four schools and four colleges and a hostel were partially under their occupation.
In February 2014, then chief minister Omar Abdullah had informed LA that 1856 buildings were under occupation of army and paramilitary forces after they had vacated 1468 of the 3324 occupied structures.
Omar had said that out of the 2445 private buildings, only 919 were vacated while 267 were vacated of the 547 government buildings till February 2014.
In March 2015, the ruling Peoples Democratic Party-Bharatiya Janata Party government informed that 1307 private houses, 278 government buildings including educational institutions, 18 industrial units, five cinemas and 27 hotels continued to be occupied by troops and paramilitary forces.
In 2014, Omar had also divulged that 66,690 kanal and 10 marals of land was under the unauthorised occupation of the troops and paramilitary forces and that no rent had been paid to the land owners against the use of occupied land.
In January last year, the government constituted a three-member high-powered committee to monitor the decisions taken at a Civil-Military Liaison Conference on 29 September 2015, relating to occupation of land by troops at Gulmarg, High Ground Anantnag, Tattoo Ground, Khurbathang-Kargil, Jammu Airport and University Campus Jammu.
In the CML meeting, chaired by former chief minister Mufti Muhammad Sayeed, three months’ timeline had been set for the Army to vacate High Ground Anantnag.
Similarly, three months deadline was set for the Army to vacate 139 acres of prime land at Tattoo Ground at Batamaloo that it has been occupied for decades.
Sayeed had called for delinking the vacation of land from all other issues to enable the government to develop basic facilities at the ground in the heart of Srinagar in the interest of the general public.
The meeting had also agreed to direct a high-level committee, constituted to work out the modalities for transfer of the 175.64 acres of land under the ‘unauthorised’ occupation of the Army at Gulmarg, in lieu of the land to be exchanged for the Tattoo Ground.
In fact, the decision to constitute the panel was taken at the CML conference chaired by then chief minister Omar Abdullah in November 2013.
The CML conference had also taken decision regarding vacation of Lower Khurbathong by the Army in Kargil.
Regarding the issue of 182,865 kanal of land with the army in Ladakh, it had decided that the Army and the civil administration would reconcile figures so that further course of action could be initiated in the matter.
· Army takes more SKUAST land
March 10: About 250 kanals of land already occupied by the CRPF and army at Sher-i-Kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology (SKUAST) at Balpora in Shopian, now four kanals of land belonging to another campus of the SKUAST at Pahnoo in Shopian has been occupied by the army’s 44 Rashtriya Rifles (RR).
Officials of the university alleged that the army took over the official buildings of SKUAST on September 17, 2106, and remained there till February 20, 2017. But after vacating the buildings, the army took over four kanals of land in the campus.
Local orchard owners also complained that they were being forced to work in their gardens according to the wishes of the army.
“We cannot work in our gardens in late or early hours of the day and we have to ask their permission first to work in our own gardens,” an orchard owner, Bilal Ahmad, said.
A group of orchard owners said that they feared to bring their women with them because of the presence of soldiers.
An official of SKUAST said that the garden nurseries of the Pahnoo campus were damaged by the army soldiers who walked through them. “The food and garbage thrown by the army soldiers brought about a hundred dogs to our nurseries and they were damaged,” he said.
	Zahoor Ahmad Bhat, senior scientist at SKUAST, told Kashmir Reader that after the intervention of Vice Chancellor of SKUAST, the army has said that it will vacate the campus by April 15.
The Pahnoo campus of SKUAST has invited local orchard owners and farmers to exhibit their produce in the campus from March 16. “This year we will have Red Chief, Oregan Super, Galla, Golden Super, Golden Delicious Renders, Wells Super, and many other plants for sale. Orchardists have been invited to bring high-density plants of enhanced quality,” Zahoor Ahmad said.
· CRPF occupies hostel for tribal students 
March 19: At least 75 students belonging to Gujjar and Bakerwal communities are living in cramped conditions in a dilapidated building that the government has taken on rent in Pulwama. The government hostel meant for them is occupied by the paramilitary CRPF — for the past more than two decades.
“The CRPF has occupied the building of the Gujjar hostel for over two decades. The authorities have not bothered to get the hostel vacated. The hostel is for tribal students studying in various educational institutions in Pulwama. The government’s tribal department has hired a building for our accommodation, but that is in dilapidated condition,” a group of students told media.
“The upper floor of the building is totally unsafe. Due to the shortage of accommodation, six to seven students are made to share one room. We are being made to live like cattle in a few rooms with broken windows,” a student living in the building said.
There is only one toilet and one bathroom for the 75 students staying in the shabby building. “We have to use a single washroom which is about 100 feet away from the building,” the students living there said.
Students have complained to officials and to ministers, but nothing has been done to free the hostel building from the CRPF’s occupation. “Two ministers visited the hostel last year and on seeing the condition of the rooms assured us that they will solve our problems. But nothing happened later,” a student said.
Warden of the hostel, Muhammad Kameel, said that he had raised the issue of the CRPF’s occupation of the hostel many times with senior officials and in district board meetings. “I don’t remember how many times I raised this issue, but nothing has been done,” the warden told Kashmir Reader.
	He admitted that the building hired by the tribal department is in a bad condition. “Students here have to face a lot of difficulties. More than five students share a single room, which is injustice to them,” he said.
Sources in the district administration said that the CRPF have been asked to vacate the hostel many times, but the CRPF said they will vacate only if alternative accommodation is provided to them.

Of 12 killings at gunfight sites, probe ordered in 2 only

March 30: Despite 12 civilians being killed near encounter sites in Kashmir since February 2016, the J&K Government has ordered enquiry in two such killings only.
According to details available with media (Greater Kashmir), the inquiry was ordered into an incident that took place in south Kashmir’s Pulwama district in February 2016 and report of that probe is yet to be made public. 
The incident occurred on Feb 12, 2016 when government forces had fired live bullets on the protesters, killing Shaista Hameed daughter of Abdul Hameed, of Lelhara, Kakapora Pulwama on the spot. She had completed her B.Ed and was pursuing MA.  In the meantime a teargas shell fired by the forces hit a student Danish Farooq Mir son of Farooq Ahmad, of Ratnipora Pulwama on the head resulting in his spot death. Danish was a student of B.Tech at Islamic University of Science and Technology.
His family had insisted that both he and Shaista fell to the bullets fired by the forces.
The incident, like other incidents, evoked widespread condemnation that forced the Government to order an inquiry. Additional District Commissioner, Pulwama was asked to probe the incident.   
The FIR in these civilian killings suggests that deaths occurred “due to law and order situation that erupted near encounter sites.” 
“After such incident, we register a general FIR,” a District Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) told Greater Kashmir.
He said later investigations decide whether the persons were “involved in violating law and order or not.” “We try our level best that family members of the deceased get ex-gratia relief,” he added.
In the Chadoora killings the case is no different. According police they have registered FIR at Police Station Chadoora vide No 17/ 2017. “It is a general FIR,” a senior police said.

Officially Stated
· 
· Kashmir witnessed 2690 stone pelting incidents in 2016
March 05: Of the total 2,690 incidents of stone pelting in the valley in 2016, North Kashmir accounted for the highest number of 1,248 incidents followed by 875 incidents in South Kashmir and 567 in Central Kashmir, according to official data of state home department.
Sopore, which is part of Baramulla district, has recorded the highest number of 492 incidents of stone pelting during the unrest, while the total number of such incidents in the entire Baramulla district is 810, the data said.
Baramulla is followed by Srinagar and Kupwara districts with 339 such incidents each reported, it said adding 271 such incidents took place in Anantnag district, followed by 264 in Pulwama, 173 in Shopian, 167 in Kulgam, 163 in Budgam, 109 in Bandipora and only 65 in Ganderbal district.
Meanwhile, Jammu and Kashmir saw a three-fold increase in cases of rioting and a substantial rise in arson cases in 2016 which also witnessed five-month-long unrest after killing of Hizbul Mujahideen militant commander, Burhan Wani, official data showed.
According to data of Crime Branch of state police, J&K has witnessed as many as 3,404 cases of rioting in 2016 as compared to 1,157 such cases in 2015, an increase of 2,247.
Similarly, police registered as many as 267 cases of arson in 2016 as compared to 147 such cases in 2015, thereby showing an increase of 120 during the period, it said.
Officials of the Crime Branch point towards this increase because of the 2016 unrest in Kashmir Valley for five months following killing of Wani in July.
There has also been an increase of 143 cases of attempt to murder from 2015 to 2016.
As many as 573 cases of attempt to murder have been registered in 2016 as compared to 430 such cases in 2015. There has also been an increase in murder cases.
	As many as 140 cases of murder were registered in 2016 as compared to 133 such cases in 2015, it said.
	The statistics reveal there has been no custodial death in 2016 and 2015.
	The cases of communal riots have also registered an increase in 2016 as compared to 2015.
As many as six such cases were registered in 2016 as compared to four in 2015, it said. The year 2016 also saw an increase in cases under Unlawful Activities Act.
	While 146 cases were registered under the Act in 2016, only 44 were registered in 2015 showing an increase of 102.
	The figures have further revealed increase in cases under Arms and Explosives Acts in 2016 as compared to 2015.
While 180 cases were registered under Arms Act in 2016, as many as 146 such cases were registered in 2015.
Similarly, 39 cases were registered under Explosives Act in 2016 as compared to 34 such cases in 2015.
Cases of assault on public servants has also declined as 516 such cases were registered in 2016 as compared to 535 in 2015.
· Will Act Tough Against Those Obstructing Anti-militancy Operations: DGP S P Vaid
March 07: Director General Police S P Vaid said “security forces will go tough against protesters and stone pelters obstructing anti-militancy operations” in Kashmir. 
	“Harsh measure will be put in place to prevent them from coming close to the encounter sites and search operations. The decision has been taken at the highest level following increasing incidents of stone pelting on security personnel during counter insurgency operations,” DGP told media.
	“We have devised a strategy to restrict protestors or stone pelters atleast one-km away from the encounter sites  or search operations.  In congested and densely populated areas where heavy deployment is not feasible some new steps are being put in place,” said the DGP.
	DGP said in the recent Tral encounter the restrictions were placed “quite successfully”. On being asked was this strategy not already placed, he said “it has been revised with some harsh measures.”
· In 6 years, 800 minors lodged in Kashmir’s juvenile home
March 10: At least 800 minors were lodged in Kashmir’s lone Juvenile Home here in the past six years, officials said on Friday.
Director of J&K’s Social Welfare Department, Hashmat Ali, admitted that ever since the Juvenile Home was set-up in 2011, at least 800 minor offenders including ‘those in conflict with law’ (stone-pelters) were lodged there.
“The irony in Kashmir is that we keep a very pessimistic view of everything and that’s a tragedy. The Juvenile Home in Harwan was ranked one among best in India by a team of experts which came to inspect it in 2016,” Ali told media.
He said children lodged in the Juvenile Home are “most vulnerable and tough to handle.” “Most of these children were in the age group of 15 to 18 years,” he said, asserting that the J&K government roped in experts from Psychology Wing of the Ministry of Social Justice, New Delhi, for “quality counselling of these youth.”
“The 800 minors, who were lodged in the Juvenile Home, are those who came and went back. Majority of them are living a normal life,” Ali claimed.
He said the counselling seems to be yielding good results as “only exceptional cases returned to the Home after committing offences second-time.”
“The minors, however, don’t receive counselling for a longer period as they remain in the Home for less than a week before being bailed out by courts. Otherwise, the team of experts is supposed to provide counselling to these children twice a week,” Ali said.
Pertinently, the Juvenile Home in Kashmir is looked after by the Social Welfare Department. It was set up in 2011 at Rs 4.11 crore after the then government faced a lot of criticism for not having the facility in place.
Asked why the government continues to face criticism for lack of facilities in the Juvenile Home, the Director Social Welfare said there were some issues with the staff which have been taken care of recently. “The Service Selection Board (SSB) has referred some posts and shortage of staff will soon be addressed,” he said.
He said there is a scope for further improvement. “The funds are available for upgrading sports and other recreational activities at the Home. We have observed that sometimes, minors of same age group fight over issues like watching a particular channel on television,” he said.
Asked whether reports of children not being produced before courts are true, the Director Social Welfare said it happens “due to law and order situations” in the districts. “If a child is supposed to be produced before a court on a particular day and there is a law and order problem in the district on the same day, the hearing gets delayed,” said Ali.
· 68 soldiers killed in militant attacks in 2016
March 17: There were 15 attacks on the army last year as the force lost 68 soldiers, the Lok Sabha was today informed.
2016 also recorded 449 instances of ceasefire violation by Pakistan along the Jammu and Kashmir border, the government said.
	In a written response to a question in Lok Sabha, Subhash Bhamre, Minister of State for Defence, said 10 cases of attacks were recorded in 2014, followed by 11 in 2015, 15 in 2016 and three until March 15 this year.
	2015 and 2016 also saw a spike in the number of deaths of army personnel, recording 67 and 68 casualties respectively in attacks and along the border. In 2014, 38 army personnel died in attacks while 13 have lost their lives this year.
	Bhamre said in 2016 the area along the Line of Control, which is under operational control of the army, saw 228 instances of ceasefire violations while the area along the international border in Jammu and Kashmir, under the control of the Border Security Force (BSF), recorded 221 instances of ceasefire violations.
	This accounts for more than one instance of ceasefire violation every day.
	In 2017, 30 instances of ceasefire violations were recorded along the LoC while six such instances along the international border were recorded until February 6 by the BSF.
· ‘86 youths picked up arms in 2016, highest in 6 years’
March 21: A total of 88 Kashmiri youths joined militancy in 2016, the highest in the past six years, parliament was told by the government of India.
At the same time, it said the situation in Jammu and Kashmir has “improved to a large extent” this year.
In written replies to two separate questions in Lok Sabha, Minister of State for Home Affairs Hansraj Gangaram Ahir shared data about Kashmiri youths taking up arms, infiltration attempts and law and order situation in the valley.
The data shows a steady increase in the number of youths taking up arms in the valley from 2014 onwards as compared to ones between 2010 and 2013.
According to the data, 88 Kashmiri youths have joined militancy in 2016, which is highest in the past six years.
In the year 2010, 54 youths joined militancy, in 2011, the number came down to 23. It further dipped to 21 in 2012 and 16 in 2013, it said.
In 2014, the number shot to 53 and in 2015, it reached 66 before touching the highest mark in six years (88) in 2016, the data said.
	The data on infiltration shows that about 121 militants had sneaked into Kashmir in 2012, highest in six years, followed by 119 in 2016.
“The counter terrorism efforts saw the best figures in 2010, when 81 per cent of infiltration attempts were thwarted by security forces, with only 95 terrorists entering the country as against 489 attempts,” the data said.
In 2011, 52 militants had crossed over against 247 infiltration attempts, while in 2013, 97 militants managed to sneak against 277 attempts, it said.
In 2014, 222 militants tried to enter the country, but only 65 could do it and in 2015, 121 ultras attempted but 33 of them were successful, the data said.
“Under the surrender policy notified by the state government, since January 31, 2004 till date, 219 surrendered militants have been benefited under the scheme,” Ahir said.
In response to a separate question, the MoS said the situation in Kashmir in the current year has improved to a large extent.
The data on law and order incidents reported since killing of Burhan Wani on July 8, 2016 shows that 820 such events were reported in July that year which declined to 747 in August, 535 in September, 179 in October, 73 in November and 36 in December. The number of such events stood at five in January, 49 in February and 27 in March this year.
“Barring some violence-prone pockets, the situation is at present normal. Efforts are afoot to bring the situation under control in these vulnerable pockets,” Ahir said.
· 40% Kashmiri youth drug addicts: Police
March 26: Forty percent Kashmiri youth are drug addicts, Police claimed.
Speaking at a programme, ‘Role of Youth against Drug Menace’ organised by J&K Youth Development Forum at SKICC, DySP J&K Police Feroz Yehya, who was the guest of honour, said four out of every ten Kashmiri youth were getting involved in drug addiction.
He said drug menace was spreading rapidly in Kashmir valley and the number of youth addicted to drugs was increasing rapidly.
“This is slow poisoning,” he said.
· If PAVA fails, forces may use pellet guns in Kashmir: GoI
March 28: Pellet guns may be used by the forces in Kashmir to disperse the rioters if their alternatives fail, the Government of India (GoI) said.
In a written reply in Lok Sabha, Union Minister of State for Home Hansraj G Ahir said that the government had constituted an expert committee on July 26, 2016 to explore other possible alternatives to pellet guns as non-lethal weapons.
"The committee has submitted its report and the recommendations have been taken into account by the government for appropriate implementation,” he said.
"Accordingly, the government has decided that the forces will resort to various measures such as using PAVA- chilli (shells and grenades), Stun Lac (shells and grenades) and tear smoke shells to disperse the rioters," he said.
The minister, however, said if these measures prove to be ineffective in dispersing of rioters, use of pellet guns may be resorted to.
He was replying to question whether the government is planning to take a re-look at the non-lethal weapons used by the security forces as scores of people have lost their vision due to shots fired from pellet guns in the valley.
· 104 local youth joined militancy since 2016
March 29:104 local youths of Jammu and Kashmir have joined the militancy since 2016 and 65 of them are currently active there, Lok Sabha was informed on Wednesday.
Minister of State for Home Hansraj Ahir said among the 104 local youths in Jammu and Kashmir who have joined the militancy in 2016-17, 12 were killed by security forces, 25 were arrested while two have surrendered.
Ahir said the state government has reported that during the counter-insurgency operations, 18 incidents of stone pelting were reported during the last two years.
He said that there were 371 incidents of attempts to infiltrate in Jammu and Kashmir from across the border in 2016 of which 119 were successful.
While 217 militants have returned, 35 were killed and three were arrested last year, he said.
· Going to encounter sites suicidal: DGP 
March 30: Director General of Police Shesh Paul Vaid said that youth were committing ‘suicide’ by rushing towards encounter sites.
In an appeal to youngsters to stay home during anti-militancy operations, Vaid said, “Even the police take cover behind bullet-proof vehicles and behind houses. A bullet does not see who it will hit.”
Claiming that social media networks were being misused by enemies of the state, Vaid said that the moment a gunfight begins in Kashmir, as many as 300 Whatsapp groups start urging youth to rush towards the encounter site to disrupt counter-insurgency operations.
“This is being done by people who are enemies of India. They are behind the Whatsapp groups each of which has 250 members,” he said.
Vaid said such groups are instigating young boys to go near encounter sites to help militants. “Some of these accounts have been traced to across the border,” he said.
Vaid said that the issue of locals rushing towards encounter sites poses a challenge to the security establishment. He, however, pointed out that security agencies keep evolving their strategy and will be able to counter this.
· Pak using social media to incite youth in Kashmir: Rajnath 
March 31: Home minister Rajnath Singh accused Pakistan of using the social media to incite youths in Kashmir to storm encounter sites to help holed up militants, after some members in Lok Sabha raised the issue of the killing of three civilians in Budgam in firing by security forces.
Responding to Saugata Roy (TMC) expressing concern and saying the situation in the Kashmir valley was very grave and seeking his intervention, Singh said the forces were dealing with “terrorism in a way they should and they will surely be successful”.
He said Kashmir had seen a “new trend” of late in which youths from nearby villages gather at the sites of encounter between forces and militants and throw stones to help the militants holed-up there to flee.
“I will appeal to youths not to be misled by Pakistan. Some social media applications like WhatsApp and Facebook are used to gather youths at places of encounters. These groups are based in Pakistan,” he said.
“Pakistan-sponsored terrorists are trying to destabilise not only Kashmir but entire India,” Singh said.
KC Venugopal (Congress) also raised the issue of the killing of civilians.

Armed Forces Suicide 
· 
· Soldier ‘shoots self’ to death in Poonch, army orders inquiry
March 05: A 35-year-old army man shot himself dead with his own service weapon while on duty along the LoC in Poonch sector of Jammu province. This is the second instance of a trooper committing suicide on the border in the past nine days.
Roshan Singh, a Sepoy of the Rastriya Rifles, committed suicide by shooting himself while on duty along the Line of Control (LoC) in Krishnagati belt in Poonch district, a senior Army officer said in Jammu.
Police have registered a case and started investigation. The army has also ordered a Court of Inquiry into the case, the officer said. Last week a BSF trooper shot himself in the same district.



	Date 
	Troopers
	Militants
	Civilians

	March 01
	-
	-
	-

	March 02
	-
	-
	-

	March 03
	-
	-
	1

	March 04
	-
	
	

	March 05
	2
	2
	-

	March 06
	-
	-
	-

	March 07
	-
	-
	-

	March 08
	-
	-
	-

	March 09
	-
	3
	2

	March 10
	-
	-
	-

	March 11
	-
	-
	1

	March 12
	-
	-
	-

	March 13
	-
	-
	1

	March 14
	-
	-
	-

	March 15
	-
	3
	1

	March 16 
	-
	-
	-

	March 17
	-
	-
	-

	March 18
	-
	-
	-

	March 19
	-
	-
	-

	March 20
	-
	-
	-

	March 21
	-
	-
	-

	March 22
	-
	-
	-

	March 23
	-
	-
	-

	March 24
	-
	-
	-

	March 25
	-
	-
	-

	March 26
	-
	2
	-

	March 27
	-
	-
	-

	March 28
	-
	1
	3

	March 29
	-
	-
	-

	March 30
	-
	-
	-

	March 31
	-
	-
	-

	Total 
	2
	11
	9

	                                                      Total Killings 
	22 killings 



Chronology of Incidents
March 01: No incident of violence reported. 
March 02: No incident of violence reported. 
March 03: A civilian was killed and four others, a CRPF trooper among them, in a grenade explosion in Pulwama. Witnesses said unidentified militants threw a grenade towards CRPF troopers in Murran Chowk, injuring four civilians and the CRPF trooper. The injured were shifted to district hospital Pulwama, where Muhammad Ayoub Wani, 35, son of Muhammad Yusuf Wani of Busoo Pulwama succumbed. Three other injured civilians identified as Abdul Ahad, Abdul Rashid and Shaheena Akhtar were treated at the hospital. The injured CRPF trooper, Dalbir Kiran, was shifted to Srinagar after first aid. Police manhandled Greater Kashmir photojournalist and Gulistan TV Cameraman Kamran Yousuf in Pulwama while they were covering protests that erupted after the grenade explosion. Yousuf said that when he was taking pictures of the clashes a couple of policemen thrashed him and threatened to damage his camera. “Pulwama senior superintendent of police Rayees Mohammad termed the incident unfortunate and promised action,” Yousuf said. While clashes erupted in a few areas of Srinagar after congregational Friday prayers.
March 04: Villagers from three Shopian villages—Sugan, Chillipora and Heff—clashed with government forces who had surrounded an area where several militants were believed to be hiding in Sugan. The forces called off the operation after militants escaped.
March 05: Two militants and one SOG personnel were killed and three armed forces personnel including an army Major were injured in an encounter in Nazneenpora village of volatile Tral town in south Kashmir. Militants killed in the encounter whose body was recovered from debris was identified as Aqib Ahmad Bhat alias Aqib Molvi of Hayuna Tral and Umar alias Osama from Pakistan. As many as twenty persons were injured in clashes that erupted during and after the encounter in Tral. In an incident, four minor boys were injured in a “mysterious” explosion in Pazalpora area of Sopore.  While a soldier ‘shoots self’ to death in Poonch. The deceased has been identified as Sepoy Roshan Singh, 35, of the 68 Engineering Regiment, who was posted with 39 Rashtriya Rifles in Poonch. The army has ordered a court of inquiry into the incident.
March 06: Two persons, including a lady, received minor injuries in clashes with cops during search operation in Mohmadpora village of Kulgam district. People claimed they foiled the army cordon.  
March 07: No incident of violence reported. 
March 08: No incident of violence reported.
March 09: Two Lashkar-e-Toiba militants were killed in a gunfight with troops in Padgampora village of Awantipora in South Kashmir’s Pulwama district. A boy was killed after being hit by bullets during clashes with force personnel near the encounter site while a youth also died of heart attack during the clashes. At least 20 people also sustained injuries in forces action on protestors. Two of the injured persons received bullets while three persons have pellets in both eyes. The slain militants were identified as Jahangir Ganaie of Quil village of Pulwama and Mohammad Shafi Shergujri while the civilians died were identified as 15-year-old Amir Nazir Wani son of Nazir Ahmad Wani of Begumbagh, Kakpora, Pulwama and Jalal Din of Tahab. In a shootout in Bandipora district, police claimed, one HM militant was killed during a brief encounter. Police said an army Major sustained injuries in the encounter. The deceased militant was identified as Mushtaq Ahmad Shergojri son of surrendered militant Sher Dil, a resident of Phalipora Malangam. Mushtaq, according to sources, had joined militancy in March 2015.
March 10: Complete shutdown was observed across Kashmir on Friday against the civilian killings during an encounter between forces and militants in Pulwama district a day earlier. Authorities also did not allow congregational prayers at the historic Jamia Masjid to foil the protest programme called by the pro-freedom leadership. Clashes erupted between forces and youth in Sopore town of Baramulla district after Friday prayers.
March 11: The bullet-riddled body of a 28-year-old man was recovered from Naghama Kralgund area of north Kashmir’s Kupwara district on March 11 (Saturday morning), leading to protests in the area. A group of locals spotted the body of Shahnawaz Khan of Naghama in a field and later informed the police. While suspected militants attacked a camp of Central Reserve Police Force in Tahab area of South Kashmir’s Pulwama district. Reportedly, no one was injured in the attack.
March 12: Two youth were injured in Tahab village of Pulwama district during clashes with armed forces. 
March 13: Militants killed a former Sarpanch affiliated with National Conference and left his body in an orchard in Pulwama district. The slain identified as Fayaz Ahmad Dar son of Abdul Khaliq Dar a resident of Kakapora Pulwama was killed after militants kidnapped him from his home in the morning, police said.  While a youth was injured during massive clashes that erupted at Qazipora Chak village of Budgam district after government forces began a search and cordon operation in the area. Several pro-freedom leaders and activists were detained when they held a protest at Basant Bagh, Srinagar against the plight of inmates in jails on the call of joint resistance.
March 14: No incident of violence reported. 
March 15: A 7-year-old girl was killed and her younger brother hit by a bullet during a gunfight at Kupwara in which three Lashkar-e-Toiba militants were killed in an encounter in Kundar village of Kupwara. A policeman was also wounded during the daylong gun battle. Locals in Kupwara’s Kundar village said that seven-year-old Kaneeza and her six-year-old brother Faisal Ahmad, children of Khushi Mohammad Chachi, were hit by bullets when they were moving to safety some 100 meters away from the house where the forces were fighting the holed-up militants.
March 16: Senior photojournalists Tauseef Mustafa and Mubashir Khan were assaulted by police during a press conference called by pro-freedom leaders at the Hyderpora residence of Syed Ali Geelani. A police officer dragged Tauseef and held him by the throat. He was abused and threatened of dire consequences.
March 17: At least 10 people including a photojournalist sustained injuries in clashes between forces and youth in Srinagar areas and various parts of South and North Kashmir after Friday congregational prayers, even as resistance groups staged protests against upcoming by-polls in the Valley and the recent killing of a minor girl in Kupwara district. While militants escaped after exchanging gunfire with forces after they cordoned off Batnoor village of Pulwama in south Kashmir. 
March 18: No incident of violence reported.
March 19: Unidentified persons threw stones at and injured three workers of the ruling Peoples Democratic Party during a ‘workers’ convention’ in Chawalgam village of Kulgam district. 
March 20: No incident of violence reported.
March 21: No incident of violence reported.
March 22: No incident of violence reported.
March 23: Suspected militants attacked a police vehicle in south Kashmir’s Shopian district. Police said militants fired upon a police Rakshak of Deputy SP Shopian near Harmain Hajipora on Anantnag-Shopian road. Police also fired some shots in retaliation. However no one was injured.
March 24: Two youths sustained injuries during fierce clashes that erupted between protesters and government forces at main market Soura, Srinagar after Friday prayers. One youth, reportedly from Nowhatta, sustained serious injuries when a stun grenade exploded in his hand that he tried to throw back towards forces.His thumb fell apart and was rushed to SKIMS Soura, for treatment, sources said.
March 25: Suspected militants barged into the residence of a J&K policeman Abdus Samad (ASI) in Hufroo village of Central Kashmir’s Budgam district late on March 25 night, police said. The gunmen drove away the car that belonged to the policeman’s kin and later set it ablaze at Kralcheck locality on the periphery of Hufroo, a police official said.
March 26: Two Hizbul Mujahideen militants were gunned down by police in Padgampora village of Awantipora. The deceased militants have been identified as Shahbaz Ahmed Wani alias Rayees Kachru of Belo village in Rajpora area of Pulwama district and Farooq Ahmed Hurra of Naazneenpora village in Shopian district. While four weapons were snatched from the policemen by suspected militants after forced their entry inside a PDP Minister’s house in south Kashmir Dooru village. In the militant attack our policemen were injured. 
March 27: No incident of violence reported.
March 28: Three civilians were shot dead by the SOG personnel during an encounter in which a militant was killed in Chadoora area of Budgam district. The civilians were allegedly targeted with bullets when protests gathered near the encounter site. The deceased civilians were identified as Zahid Rashid Gania, Amir Fayaz Waza and Ishfaq Ahmad Wani and the militant killed in the encounter was identified as Tawseef Ahmad of Kulgam district affiliated with Hizabul Mujahideen. In the SOG firing around thirty person received injuries some of them critical.   
March 29: A complete shutdown was observed in Kashmir valley in protest against the killing of three youths by government forces in Chadoora on March 28. All shops, schools, offices and business establishments were closed in view of the strike leading to a halt in the daily life across Kashmir. Protests and clashes were reported from various places. While militants in the evening fired many shots towards police station Yaripora in south Kashmir’s Kulgam district, however, no one was injured in the incident, police said. 
March 30: For the third consecutive day, a complete shutdown was held in Rawalpora areas against the killing of youth of Rangreth in firing by forces at Chadoora. Reports said youth engaged forces in pitched battles throughout the day in Rawalpora areas amid shutdown against killing of Rangreth youth Ishaq Ahmed Wani (24), by forces at Chadoora. Clashes were reported fromArihal, Pulwama after the arrest of 12 youth.  While the residents of Nagam, Chadoora accused armed forces of beating them without any provocation. 
March 31: Clashes erupted in several areas of Kashmir valley post Friday prayers in protest against the killing of three youths in Chadoora by government forces on March 28. Tens of hundreds of police and CRPF troopers had been deployed in flashpoints to prevent demonstrations. However, despite such massive deployment, protests and clashes occurred in the valley. While a Freelance photojournalist Abid Bhat was injured during clashes between youth and government forces in Srinagar’s Rangreth area. Abid said he was covering the protests when he took a hit from a policeman’s riot shield. He was removed to a private hospital where he received six stitches in his eyebrow.
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